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Monday, December 10, 2012

--- On commencing at 9:40 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

The Board sits today on the matter of an application filed by Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited on May 10th, 2012 under section 78 of the Ontario Energy Board Act and the Board's incentive regulation mechanism framework.

Toronto Hydro is seeking approval for changes to the rates that it charges for electricity distribution to be effective June 1st, 2012, May 1st, 2013 and May 1st, 2014.

The Board issued a notice of application and hearing dated June 27th, 2012 under case number EB-2012-0064.

On July 31st, 2012 the Board issued Procedural Order No. 1, in which it established the process in which the issues list would be set for this proceeding.

The Board issued its decision -- issues list decision on August 16th, 2012.  On August 22nd, 2012, the Board issued Procedural Order No. 2, which established dates for the filing of interrogatories by intervenors and Board Staff and the responses from Toronto Hydro.

By way of letters filed on September 13th and October 22nd, 2012, Toronto Hydro informed the Board that it would be updating its evidence that had been filed in this proceeding to better reflect what is now known to be the status of projects contained in the application and to reflect some re-prioritization that had been undertaken by Toronto Hydro.

Toronto Hydro also proposed that its application be bifurcated into two phases, the first phase to include the activities and revenues requirements for the years 2012 and 2013, with the second phase being left to deal with the activities of revenue requirement for 2014.

Toronto Hydro further requested that special attention be paid to the Bremner station project due to the nature of the project and the fact that it spans all three years of the application.  They requested that their Bremner station project be considered in its entirety.

The Board accepted Toronto Hydro's proposal regarding the bifurcation of the application and the considerations required for Bremner station in Procedural Order No. 3.

The Board established a separate procedural track for discovery with respect to the Bremner station project.  If and when required, the Board will establish further discovery processes for the Bremner project, including an oral component, if needed.

The Board will establish its expectations regarding the second phase of this application prior to the completion of the first phase.

Procedural Order No. 3 established an interrogatory and response process for the updated evidence, as well as a technical conference, a settlement conference and this date for the commencement of the oral hearing of the phase 1 matters that remain unsettled.

My name is Ken Quesnelle.  I will be presiding over today's proceeding, and with me on the Board Panel are Board member Marika Hare and Board member Cathy Spoel.  I will take appearances now, please.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Panel.  Fred Cass and Amanda Klein for Toronto Hydro.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Panel.  Tom Brett for the Building Owners and Managers Association.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Brett.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  I would like to put in an appearance for Mr. Jay Shepherd, who will be cross-examining panel number 3.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Ian Blue and Michelle Mondorf for the City of Toronto.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Have you got your mic on?  Did the court reporter get that?

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye and David MacIntosh for Energy Probe, and I would like to put in an appearance for Dr. Higgin, who will be cross-examining panel 3.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

MR. CROCKER:  David Crocker and Shelley Grice for AMPCO.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Crocker, Ms. Grice.

MR. JANIGAN:  Michael Janigan for VECC.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning to you both.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning.  Michael Millar, counsel to Board Staff.  I am joined by Mr. Martin Davies and Mr. Nabih Mikhail.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Millar.

There are a few matters I would just like to raise before we ask if there are any other preliminary matters.

There is a note that went out from Board Staff last week soliciting the estimated times that people would require in their cross-examination of the various panels, and we have that.  Thank you very much.

As it stands now, in aggregate, the amount of time requested is in excess of what we have allotted for this week.  We will take a closer look at that as we advance on this, but I will ask people to be brief and to perhaps reconsider the amount of time they require going through.

We do make note that we had an extensive technical conference.  That record is available to the Board Panel.  We have read it.  So keep that in mind as we go forward.

We will be completing this hearing this week.  So we may have to adhere to a very tight schedule, and if it doesn't appear that people are reconsidering or have a way of reducing the amount of time required, we may have to put in some time constraints on that.  So I will ask people for their cooperation on that.  It is important that we get this through in the allotted time and we have no more time than this week to do so.

The other item, and this just goes to not a scheduling issue, but we had received a request from Toronto Hydro late last week that if schedule permitted, they would make argument in-chief on this phase of the hearing on Friday afternoon and do that orally.

Now, they did get the caveat if the schedule permitted it.  Hopefully it does, and that means people have really have cooperated well in their cross-examination and efforts to reduce the amount of time they needed.  But that aside, Toronto Hydro also asked for a written schedule immediately following this proceeding, and I would just like to ask, Mr. Cass, what your thinking is on that, as far as the need for the kind of expedited argument phase of this, what we hear this week.

Two things.  We did mention in the Procedural Order No. 3 that our intent was to rejoin with the Bremner discovery phase and join the two back together sometime in January.  That was the Board's intent.  So with that in mind, what is your client's -- what does it see as the benefit of starting with the argument phase in this one at the end of this week?

MR. CASS:  I think, Mr. Chair, it is just Toronto Hydro's desire, if at all possible, to get the directions of the Board as quickly as can be done in relation to the work, the ICM work that is part of the application in respect of 2012 and 2013.

I think it is essentially as simple as that.  I realize the timing constraints, and I realize that the Board did, in fact, give the indication you have just described in the procedural order around the next part of the proceeding that will deal with Bremner.

Again, to the extent that it is possible, Toronto Hydro is just seeking a decision and direction of the Board at the earliest opportunity, and to the extent that an argument schedule will assist that, then Toronto Hydro is certainly looking for the most expeditious possible argument schedule.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So what you're envisioning there, is it a departure from what the Board had suggested in its procedural order, in that the Board would be issuing a partial decision in advance of the full decision?

MR. CASS:  Might I just have a moment, Mr. Chair?  Sorry.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.

MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.

I think the best way to put it would be that while of course being aware of what the Board said in its procedural order, Toronto Hydro is looking at the process that will best position the Board to address the issues and produce a decision in the manner that is most timely from the Board's point of view.

It was Toronto Hydro's thinking that if argument could be done expeditiously after the completion of this oral evidence this week, then the Board could be in the process of thinking about the issues from this part of the case, while the case moves on to the Bremner phase.

It seemed to us that might be helpful to the Board to be in the position of having the arguments and being able to think about them as the Bremner phase is proceeding.  Of course, the Board will be the best judge of that.

Similarly, it seemed to us there might be some benefit, then, that with that argument phase, when it is completed, then for the Bremner phase the attention could be focussed on Bremner itself.  And the argument for this part of the proceeding would have been concluded at some point along that chain of events, allowing a more specific focus on Bremner from that point forward.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  That was the thinking, but again, it is the process that will work best for the Board that is most important.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And I think that the Board will take that into consideration.  We have a few more clarifying questions to ask, but rather than spend a lot of time on that right now, that clarification is helpful.  Thank you very much.

To the extent that we want to explore that further and the possibilities, obviously we will be seeking the input from the intervenors, as well, as to what would work best for them in that context.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, I just want to pick up on your comment that it might be necessary to restrict cross-examination.

I would only caution the Panel that if that rule is going to be applied, it must be applied to everybody, not just those at the end of the week.

I say that because the city's primary interest is panel 3 and we're fairly down on the list of cross-examination.  And I would hate to have lengthy cross-examinations, untouched by the Board, take place and then be squeezed by that.

So I think the same rules should be applied to everybody.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will attempt to apply the same rigour from start to finish, Mr. Blue, but your point is well taken.  Thank you.

With that, Mr. Cass, I think we are ready to proceed, unless you have any other preliminary matters other than the ones I raised.

MR. CASS:  I did not, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.  I do have a brief opening statement.

My intent with the opening statement is to endeavour to give the Board a roadmap that, with the benefit of a little bit of background about what brought us here, will then lead into a roadmap for the witness panels that Toronto Hydro will be calling over the course of this proceeding, including panel 1A that the Board can see sitting here now.

I don't expect it to be long, but again, I do think it might be useful just to give some background, and then I will explain the various witness panels that will be called during the course of the week.

As everyone in the room was aware, the Board issued its decision in a previous Toronto Hydro case -- I believe that was early January of this year -- in which it indicated that it was open to Toronto Hydro to file an incentive regulation application for 2012, including an incremental capital module application.  And indeed in that decision the Board actually encouraged Toronto Hydro to do this.

I think it is apparent to everyone from the evidence that Toronto Hydro has listened to the Board and has endeavoured to formulate an application to meet the directions of the Board from that decision.

This, then, has brought us to where we are, which is consideration of an IRM application that includes an ICM application.

I think it is obvious, as well, from the evidence -- I certainly hope that it is -- that in preparing the ICM application, Toronto Hydro took very seriously the guidance that the Board has provided in the past about ICM filings.  In particular -- and again, I certainly hope that this appears clearly from the evidence that the Board has seen – Toronto Hydro gave very serious consideration in developing its evidence to the non-discretionary and prudence elements of the ICM model.

This, I believe, has resulted in a filing that I would say is and I hope others would see as being quite unlike a cost of service application.  I say that for two reasons.

The filing is quite unlike a cost of service application, because it starts from Toronto Hydro doing its very best to take a focussed look at work that is essential.

I think the Board would also have seen that it is different, as well, from cost of service, in that even compared to the standards of a cost of service application, Toronto Hydro has presented an extremely high level of detail, to show what it believes to be the essential nature of its proposed capital spending.

I can't say this unequivocally, but it seems to me that the level of detail in this filing may well be unprecedented for proceedings of the Board.

I hope, as well, that it is apparent to the Board and all parties that this level of detail is reflective of a very considerable effort on the part of Toronto Hydro's witnesses to, in fact, listen to the message from the Board and prepare evidence in accordance with the directions of the Board.

Now, the level of detail to which I have referred includes many business cases supporting the proposed work, and there are a few comments that I will make as I go through about the business cases.  So I think it is useful to identify that in the original filing, these business cases are the schedules numbered from B1 to B22 under tab 4.

Now, among these business cases, of course, there is evidence related to the Bremner station, and as we've been discussing already this morning, the Board has determined that that will be heard separately during this proceeding.

Another element of the evidence -- and this also is reflective of the witness panels that the Board will hear from this week -- is that the business cases were reviewed by outside experts.  The evidence of Power System Engineering with respect to its review of business cases is found in the original evidence at tab 4, schedule D4.  By reference to page 2 of that evidence, the Board would be able to see which are the business cases that PSE reviewed.

The evidence of Navigant with respect to review of business cases is found at tab 4, schedule D5.  Again, at page 1 of that evidence, the Board would be able to see which are the business cases that Navigant reviewed.

Now, as the Board Chair referred to this morning, by September and October of this year it had become apparent that Toronto Hydro needed to review its proposed ICM work to determine the extent to which the work plan would have to be updated, because of the passage of time until then.

As everyone knows, Toronto Hydro filed updated evidence that came out of that review of its original evidence.  In the course of this review, Toronto Hydro took another careful look at the proposed ICM work, in relation to the Board's guidance for ICM applications.  And in the result, Toronto Hydro's update included removal of the grid solutions work from the application.

So, again, coming back to the schedules that I've referred to already, I mentioned that the schedules numbered B1 to B22 under tab 4 are the business cases.  The business case for the grid solutions work is that found at schedule 22.  This no longer forms part of the ICM proposal and has been removed.

So, then, I think this background will help me give the Board a quick roadmap of Toronto Hydro's witness panels for the week.

Given this focus that I have described on the part of Toronto Hydro to try to bring evidence about the work that's essential, Toronto Hydro has relied on witnesses who know the work from the operational level, so including panel 1A sitting here now.  These witnesses who are grounded in an understanding of the work at an operational level have been responsible for the preparation of the written evidence, the answers to the interrogatories, the evidence at the technical conference, and they're on the witness panels that Toronto Hydro will be calling this week.

There will be -- there are five witness panels proposed in total.

The first panel that's been described as panel 1A is intended to address the capital planning of Toronto Hydro at a general level, including capital planning processes.  That is the panel that we have here now.

The next panel has been described as panel 1B.  It will address capital planning for the non-ICM capital work, other than core distribution capital work.

I know as soon as I say that, that sounds a little confusing, so I will explain that in a little more detail.

Mr. Sadeghi, who is closest to the court reporter on panel 1A, is actually responsible or will address non-ICM capital work, much like the witnesses on panel 1B.  However, his area relates to core distribution assets, which ties in with the evidence of the other witnesses on panel 1A.  That is why Mr. Sadeghi is here on panel 1A, although his evidence relates to non-ICM work.

I hope that explanation is helpful to everyone in understanding the witness panels.

Then it is proposed that the experts I have already referred to from Navigant and PSE will testify on a panel that's been described as panel 2A.  After panel 2A will come a panel that will be able to address the detailed evidence on the ICM work except, of course, as I mentioned, Bremner and grid solutions.

The final panel will be panel 3, which will address the evidence relating to rates and revenue requirement.

Just a couple of other items before I wrap up, Mr. Chair, as far as the opening statement is concerned.

Last week, Toronto Hydro circulated a two-page document with two numeric presentations that Toronto Hydro believes will assist the Board in its consideration of this application.

That document will be introduced in a brief examination in-chief of panel 3.  That's the two pages of numeric presentation.

As well, again in an attempt to assist the Board, Toronto Hydro circulated last week a booklet called "ICM Visual Support".  It is a booklet of pictures, many of which are already in the evidence.  It just seemed, as the witnesses are attempting to explain the various areas of work, it might well be useful to the Board to have these pictures at hand.

I hope the Board Panel members received them.  No?

MR. QUESNELLE:  We don't have them here on the dais.

MR. CASS:  We do have extra copies.  I don't know that it is necessary right now.

I did just want to indicate, again by reference to my descriptions of the business cases by schedule numbers, what the Board would see in these -- collected in this version of the photographs, when the Board has it, is that one can see photographs depicting the various areas of work, and they're tied back to the schedule numbers in the evidence.

So just as an example, there are some representative photos with respect to direct buried cables at pages 6 to 8 of this booklet, and then the booklet references back to schedule B1, which this is the business case for that area.

One other example would be SMD 20 switches.  There are a couple of pictures in here just to help the Board, to the extent there are questions about the switches, to get a sense of what those are all about.  Those are at pages 30, 31, and again it references back to schedule B7, which is the schedule for -- the business case for that particular area of evidence.

Anyway, that is all that I wanted to say by way of opening statement.  I hope that is helpful to the Board in understanding the witness panels, and panel 1A is available to be sworn or affirmed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  One question, Mr. Cass.  And thank you very much; that is very helpful.

To the extent that any of the panels will be either adopting or speaking to the safety issues that have been described as one of the lenses that are looked through for the capital replacement, and what have you, and the approach that Toronto Hydro takes in its regiment on the safety as it relates to asset management, is there a specific panel, or could any one panel discuss it in the context of what their adopted evidence would be?

MR CASS:  I believe, Mr. Chair, panel 2B would be the best panel for those questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. CASS:  Perhaps I might just introduce the panel members of panel 1A so they can come forward to be sworn by the Board.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.

MR. CASS:  I have already referred to Mr. Sadeghi.  He is supervisor, asset management with Toronto Hydro.  Next to him is Michael Walker, who is manager, program management, distribution services. Then Guy Paradis, who is supervisor, project planning centre and distribution maintenance.

Finally, Robert Otal, supervisor, systems risk and reliability.

Could you please come forward to be sworn or affirmed?
THESL - PANEL 1A, CAPITAL PLANNING PROCESSES A

Robert Otal, Affirmed


Guillaume (Guy) Paradis, Sworn


Sam Sadeghi, Affirmed


Michael Walker, Sworn


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.
Examination-in-chief by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Mr. Sadeghi, if I could perhaps start with you and put a few questions to you in examination in-chief?

First, can you tell the Board what your area of evidence is?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.  So my evidence is primarily focussed on the area of THESL's operations portfolio for the work below the materiality threshold, the ICM materiality threshold as documented in tab 4, schedule C1, of our application.

MR. CASS:  And is the evidence in that respect, including answers to interrogatories, technical conference evidence, accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  All right.  And, lastly, can you give the Board just an overview of the key points of your evidence in that area, please?

MR. SADEGHI:  Sure, absolutely.  So the key points regarding the operations portfolio consist of engineering capital, and that represents the labour costs that are capitalized, although they are not directly attributable to a specific distribution system, asset or projects.

The next point would be the worst performing feeder, known as WPF, and that involves identification of feeders that are experiencing sustained unplanned interruptions, as well as planning and prioritizing and executing work to improve reliability on such feeders.

The third point would be the customer connections, and that involves connecting customers to our distribution system, as well as service upgrades due to increases in customer load demands.

The fourth point would be reactive capital, and that focus is on repairing defective and failed equipment in order to restore power to customers in the event of an outage, as well as mitigating potential safety risk to the public.

The last point is continuing projects and emerging issues.  That involves projects that were continued from 2011 into 2012, as well as projects that are in response to reliability and/or safety issues that have emerged and require short-term attention, typically within one year.  And that concludes my evidence.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, Mr. Walker, what is your area of evidence in this case?

MR. WALKER:  My evidence is focussed primarily on the area of work plan execution, and today I will be providing a high-level summary of some key points on that.

But for the benefit of the Board, I would like to note that more detailed explanations are provided in the addendum to our manager's summary, which is in tab 2 of our application.

MR. CASS:  And is that evidence, including answers to interrogatories and technical conference evidence, accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. WALKER:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Can you give the Board a quick overview of the key points of your evidence, please?

MR. WALKER:  Certainly.  There's four key points I want to speak to.

The first one relates to job execution and where we stand today.  Following the OEB's decision on our cost of service application in January, we essentially halted virtually all capital work.  We then engaged in the difficult task of balancing the needs of undertaking certain capital work, with the lack of rates funding that we had to do that work.

And we will have spent more than $100 million past the depreciation amount on our must-do work.  And this required us to undertake a ramp-up, and due to many operational considerations, this ramp-up proved to be very difficult.

When I say operational considerations, there is really three key ones I want to mention.

One is the loss of the contractor labour forces that were, in essence, laid off or fired when we stopped the capital work, and the difficulty in re-establishing that contractor community.

The second one is the shutdown of manufacturing lines at suppliers, and the difficulty in restarting those lines.

And the third is the expiry of city permits for some of our jobs, forcing us to re-circulate those jobs to other utilities and to reapply for those permits.

The second point I would like to speak to is around job scheduling.

In our application, we proposed a capital work plan that is essential, in our view, for maintaining the reliability and safety of the distribution system, but due to the passage of time after filing that application, THESL was required to move jobs mainly from 2012 out into 2013 and 2014, and this is due to what I will call executability factors.

Now, with unlimited resources we could do everything that was tabled in our ICM application in a single year, but those executability factors have constrained us as to what is actually possible.

And in the case of our update to this application that we filed in October, these are the executability factors of most relevance that I would like to raise.

The first one is specialized resource availability.  For certain types of specialized skilled labour, there is a limited resource pool available to us.

Feeder loading restrictions.  High system loading, especially in the summer months, the hotter months, can prevent the transfer of load from a given feeder we want to work on to an adjacent heavily loaded feeder, thus creating delays in that job.

And finally, material lead times.  Much of our equipment has significant lead times, and in some cases that can be up to a year.

The third point I would like to raise is around operational efficiency.  Operational efficiency may require that jobs be scheduled or rescheduled during the course of the work program out of priority sequence.

Now, this is not detrimental, because all of the projects in the ICM application are, in our view, must-do projects.  When I speak of operational efficiency, what I am really talking about is optimizing the use of resources to achieve the lowest cost for the ratepayers.

Jobs untaken by THESL often span more than 12 months from the start of design through to completion of construction.  And operational efficiency requires that jobs be scheduled throughout the calendar year, such that there are projects that typically do span the end of a given year and into the start of the next year.

Also, many jobs represent phases of a larger initiative that require a longer-term planning horizon, and greater certainty of funding is necessary to allow THESL to negotiate the best terms with our contractors and our material suppliers.

Then the last point I want to raise is around job costs.

In undertaking jobs, THESL must deal with many complexities.  Some of the examples are the intensification of development that we're seeing in the city now around the condominiums, the Pan Am Games, those kind of things.

There is limited space for utility equipment installation in the boulevards and in the roadways.

There is over a century of previous construction by various agencies, often with no or very poor records that we need for our designs.

And there is coordination with other city and utility agencies and their reconstruction programs.

So these complexities lead to a continual evolution of job scope, and also a continual evolution of the anticipated job costs.  And that occurs throughout the jobs' life cycle, right from planning through design and to execution.

So during the planning stage, high-level estimates are used, which are typically based on multiplication of a set of representative units, with associated standard costs, what we call a high-level estimate.

Once the work program is established, we then go into detailed design and create detailed estimates that more accurately reflect the real-world circumstances of that job, and these can vary significantly from the high-level estimates.

And even during execution, real-time conditions can cause the actual costs to vary from even the detailed design, and this is due to the complex urban environment in which Toronto Hydro operates.

And that concludes my evidence.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Walker.

Mr. Paradis, what is your area of evidence in this case?

MR. PARADIS:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  The area of responsibility I will be speaking to over the next few moments is regarding our ICM submission, more importantly the architecture of the submission, the business cases we developed and the process we went through to develop those business cases.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Is your evidence in that area, including answers to interrogatories and technical conference evidence, accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  And do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Can you give the Board a quick overview of your area of evidence, please?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes.  So without repeating what some of my colleagues have already mentioned, we have structured our ICM submission into what is now nine projects represented by 21 segments.  Each one of these projects is, in our opinion, necessary to address what is a well-defined need within our ICM business cases.

The submission as a whole represents what we consider to be a minimum required level of expenditure to maintain existing reliability levels and the overall safety of our system.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

Mr. Otal, what is your area of evidence?

MR. OTAL:  Mr. Cass, my area of evidence is going to be focussed predominantly within the area of THESL's Feeder Investment Model.  Today I will provide a high-level summary of a few of the key points, but for the benefit of the Board, I should also note that more detailed explanations of the Feeder Investment Model can be found within appendix 4 of the managers' summary, tab 2 of our application.  And I am happy to provide as much details with respect to the jobs described, and can provide as much detail as the Board requires with respect to these jobs.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.

And is your evidence in the area that you have described, including answers to interrogatories and technical conference evidence, accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. OTAL:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Can you just summarize for the Board what the Feeder Investment Model to which you have referred is?

MR. OTAL:  Put simply, the Feeder Investment Model is a risk-based model, designed to identify the economically optimal replacement time for our aging assets.  At the highest level, the model works by balancing the costs associated with the increasing risk of failure as the assets age and as their conditions degrade, or the risk cost against the benefit of delaying the capital spending that is required for replacement by extending service life as long as possible.

On a more detailed level, the FIM approach compares the cost that THESL and its customers will experience if an existing asset fails, weighted by the probability of failure or the risk cost, against the annualized cost of replacing that asset with a new one.

These asset-related failure costs include both the cost of replacing the failed asset and the cost the customer will incur as a result of the failure.  The cost of replacing the failed asset includes the cost of acquiring and installing that new asset and any additional costs that would be necessitated by the fact that it failed in operation and it must be replaced under a reactive basis.

MR. CASS:  And one final question for you, Mr. Otal.  How was the Feeder Investment Model used in the ICM application?

MR. OTAL:  So there is two forms of business cases presented within THESL's IRM application, like-for-like replacement segments and non-in-kind replacement segments.  For each, the FIM was utilized to formulate business case evaluation results as follows:  For like-for-like or in-kind replacements, where THESL is replacing existing assets with new standardized versions of those assets, while maintaining the same overall configuration, the model compares the risk cost of replacement in 2012 against the present value of that risk cost associated with replacement in 2015.

The difference between these two risk cost figures, the 2012 and 2015, is really the value of undertaking the replacement now, and this is referred to as the avoided risk cost.

In situations where THESL proposes to replace one type of asset with another type under a different configuration - an example of this would be a rear lot conversion - we would provide a somewhat different comparison.  We refer to these as not-in-kind projects.  These are evaluated based upon the differences in the cost of ownership between the existing state of assets and what the new state of assets would be.

The cost of ownership really represents all streams of costs associated with an asset from now and going forward.

The difference in this cost of ownership is subtracted from the project cost in order to derive the project NPV, or the project net benefit.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Mr. Chair, that concludes the examination in-chief of the panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  I don't know if parties have gotten together and landed on an order.  If they have, if it could just be indicated.  No?  Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I can go first.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Could you, please?  Thank you very much.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Good morning, panel.

I would like to address a number of areas with you today, but I just want to make sure we're on the same page with respect to terminology.

So if I could ask you -- it is probably easier for the Board.  On page 28 of our compendium is a summary of your capital program, just so we're on the same page with respect to terminology.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, if you could just hold on a minute.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Not a problem.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe the Panel has it, if I am not mistaken.  So we will give this an exhibit number, K1.1, and it is the cross-examination compendium of the School Energy Coalition for panel 1A.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF THE SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION FOR PANEL 1A.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My apologies.

So Toronto Hydro's application is made up, at its smallest level, with what you term "jobs", and those are discrete individual capital projects, as an example, the single refurbishment of a transformer or a replacement of a feeder.  Am I correct?

MR. PARADIS:  That would be correct, although I would just like to add a note that a replacement of a feeder would be even more discrete than that.  So it would be a specific portion, not an entire feeder.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then at the next level you have what Toronto Hydro calls a segment, which is a grouping of individual jobs that fall under a common category.  So, for an example, in your underground infrastructure segment, it consists of a number of individual, discrete jobs which would be rehabilitation of individual feeders or, as you've said, those jobs would be rehabilitation of a number of individual feeders.  Am I correct?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Then, lastly, Toronto Hydro has what it calls projects which are grouping, in many cases, of a number of segments, which again are a grouping of a number of individual jobs, and they fall under a common category.  So, for an example, your underground infrastructure project includes four segments, which involve underground work.  Am I correct?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.

So the first thing I would like to talk to you about is how Toronto Hydro, from a capital planning perspective, went from the capital planning program it proposed in its early rebasing application, EB-2011-0144, to what I would call the capital program in this application, which includes hundreds of individual jobs that Toronto Hydro says are eligible for an incremental capital module.

So I was wondering if you could explain what the process was after that decision was rendered in the early rebasing application, how Toronto Hydro determined what jobs would be in the envelopes of spending that you would ask for in this ICM and which projects would meet the requirements of the ICM.

MR. PARADIS:  I will try to answer that.  It is important to note that the jobs were the last step in the process.

So at a high level, we went back to our capital program.  We reviewed the ICM criteria to fully appreciate and understand what part of our plans would qualify as an ICM submission.

We then endeavoured to identify areas of urgent need that were identified at a high level when -- our previous capital program.  Based on those areas of need, we then endeavoured to develop segments, which represented more targeted definition of areas of need, and the segments led us to developing jobs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So you started off at the project level and worked your way down?  You didn't look at individual jobs that you said, We need to replace this feeder or we need to do box construction on this street?  And then sort of -- you worked the other way around.  You said, Generally, we would need to do these sort of things?

MR. PARADIS:  We started at the highest level, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.

If I could take you to page 23 of our compendium, it is an excerpt from your manager's summary.

And on page 24 is the originally as filed manager's summary before the October 31st update.

If I look at table number 3, in that early rebasing application you had a capital program of $590 million for 2012, and for 2013 that's $650 million.  Am I correct?

MR. PARADIS:  You're correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, in this application, if we look at page 24 of the compendium - this is the original - you had originally asked for $448.7 million for 2012, and that was updated to 274.7 million for 2012.

And for 2013, you had originally asked for $534.5 million and are now seeking $579.1 million.  Am I correct?

MR. PARADIS:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, if you look at the paragraph just above the table, I will read it to you.  It says:
"The capital program outlined in this ICM application has been significantly curtailed relative to the early rebasing application that THESL presented to the Board under file EB-2011-0144."

Can you explain to me how -- let's look at 2013 specifically.  Between the amount -- between $615 million, which you had asked for, and the ICM of 579.1 million, which is roughly 94 percent, can you explain to me how that is a significant curtailment relative to the early rebasing application?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes.  I think what is important to note here is that our original submission for the ICM was meant to cover the two individual years, being 2012 and 2013, as a separate set of undertakings for those years.

And as the year progressed and as the timelines for a decision on our case kept increasing, some issues -- which I would call of execution in nature -- came into play and forced us to review our ability to execute the plan as proposed.

And I think that is what you see when you compare the two tables that you mentioned here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.  But even if I looked on -- this would be on page 24, your -- as originally filed, well, for 2013 you weren't seeking 94 percent, you were seeking 87 percent.

So I will ask again:  How would you say that is a significant curtailment relative to the early rebasing application?

MR. PARADIS:  I would like to mention that the significance comes from the fact that Toronto Hydro believed its previous application consisted mainly of important work that should be undertaken.  And in that context, a reduction of the nature you see here is still significant when compared to what we felt was a reasonable ask in the first place.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Now, in the Board's third-generation IRM report, one of the requirements for the ICM is "need" and that report defines "need" as:

"Amounts that should be directly related to the claimed driver, which must be clearly non-discretionary.  The amounts must be clearly outside the base upon which rates were derived."

And I didn't reproduce the report, but that specific quote is also in the reproduced filing guidelines on page 47 of my -- of the compendium.  You don't need to bring that up.

So what we were interested in, SEC was interested to know is what you've spent on similar projects in previous years.

So you were asked in SEC IR No. 15 -- and this is in our compendium at page 5 –- and you were asked in VECC IR 1-1-12, part (a), the compendium at page 7.

And your responses essentially were that you can't compare what you spent in past years on some of these projects, segments, jobs, whatever level.  You were asked again at the technical conference by a number of parties, including myself, and the transcript is on page 15 to 19 of the compendium.

So my question is twofold.

First, why can't Toronto Hydro provide this information so that the Board can understand what is truly incremental spending in that term, to have a sense of what is outside the base upon which rates were derived?  And without that, to have a sense of exactly what you had previously spent.

You know, I would ask that, why you simply can't provide that information, what is so particular about this.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, if I might just intervene, I don't have a difficulty with the witnesses answering why they can't do it.  I do have a difficulty about where this would ultimately go.  I question the value of this to the Board.  If necessary, I will come back to that, but I just wanted to lay that placeholder now.

But the question about why they can't do it, I don't have an issue with that.  I may have to speak up again, depending on where this is going.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

MR. PARADIS:  So to speak to why we can't compare, I think it is as simple as saying, as I mentioned, when we endeavoured to put together this ICM submission, we re-looked at everything we had to undertake, and essentially crafted a whole new series of jobs to align with what we had identified as being needed, prudent and in alignment with the ICM criteria.

In certain cases -- and I think they have been brought up before -- there's simply no comparable work in previous filings.

And I would simply point to, for example, our submission for PILC, piece-out and leakers, where, as opposed to previous submissions where we were proposing to do feeder-level replacements of undersized cables or overloaded cables or even simply aged cables, we are now targeting the very specific locations where leaks have been identified and where safety issues have been, once again, identified.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So besides that one example, is it Toronto Hydro's position that all the proposed jobs are not the type of capital work that Toronto Hydro has done before?

MR. PARADIS:  I don't believe it is our position that all the work proposed under this submission is entirely new in nature, in the sense that our assets have remained the same, the realities of our system have remained the same.

What we're simply suggesting is that what's now included in the new submission has no direct relationship with a previous submission.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I will use an example: handwell replacements.

In your 2010 application, you asked for -- in your application, there is money that you sought for handwell replacements.  That seems like you can compare the amount you're asking for this year, versus the amount that you were asking for in 2010.

You know, I can go on in other examples, and you would go back and span a lot further than 2010.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PARADIS:  So without wanting to speak specifically to the handwell replacement program, I think, once again, I would like to point out that we took the approach of looking at everything we had proposed in terms of our capital program in the past, and we then drilled down to the job level.

So the jobs that you would see pertaining to handwells wouldn't have a direct relationship with what was done in the past in that area.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So at best, it is not a perfect match, but you can -- help me -- help me.  This is what I would like to understand, and help the Board especially understand this.

I am trying to understand, in certain categories on certain jobs, certain projects, generally what you have spent in previous years on those sorts of things, to have a sense of what is truly incremental.

We've asked in a number of interrogatories and we asked in a number of technical conference, and the question (sic) is:  Well, it can't be done.  But clearly, some of it can be done.  And what information can you provide?

This is a very important piece of information that the Board, I would think, would ultimately need.

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PARADIS:  Again, I think the main issue here is simply that there is no meaningful basis for us to do a comparison between the two.  So that's essentially the problem, given the two different natures of our submission.  There is just no meaningful basis for comparison available to us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In your opinion?

I mean, at the end of the day you can provide this information with the caveats that Toronto Hydro doesn't feel that it is perfectly -- that it's, you know, totally comparable.  I understand that.

But I would say, speaking for my client -- and I think the Board would want to have a sense of what you have spent on previous years, previous filings.

I mean, this is an ICM application which has looked like no other ICM application before, so we're just trying to get our heads around it.

MR. CASS:  Well, I don't know if that was a question or not, Mr. Chair.

I would observe that the witnesses have explained and Toronto Hydro's evidence is that this comparison cannot be done.

The Board has heard that in developing this particular application, Toronto Hydro looked at the most urgent work and took it right down to the level of specific jobs.

Those specific jobs have not been -- as of the time of the application, had not been done yet.  They can't be related back to some previous work in any meaningful way.  That's what the witnesses are saying.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, clearly fixing one feeder that you are planning to do in 2012, you clearly didn't fix that feeder in 2011, but you have a sense that you fixed feeders in 2011 and you are fixing a number of feeders in 2012.  It is that sort of comparison.

And I don't want to continually have this sort of argument with the panel.  I don't think that is helpful, but I think -- and I would ask that the Board require Toronto Hydro to provide some comparison.

And if they feel that it is not reflective, then they have the -- you know, they can put the caveats that they feel is necessary.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, it is not just the caveats.  It is the amount of work to do something that Toronto Hydro, first of all, believes can't be done.  But to even attempt to come up with something that is not what they believe can be done, it is the amount of work and effort that would be required to go into that.  And the witnesses can address that, if the Board would like to hear more about the work involved.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  What we have heard to date is the witness response that there is no meaningful basis on which to make the comparison, Mr. Rubenstein.

If you have a meaningful basis on which you see that they should be done, I think perhaps we could have an undertaking that is discrete and describes exactly the comparisons that you think would be of value.

It strikes me that they may be -- I am not suggesting apples and oranges, but the approach taken, from what I am hearing from the witnesses, is a different approach.

Within that approach, there are obviously always activities.  The witnesses have said that the nature of their infrastructure has not changed.  The nature of the issues they face with their infrastructure has not changed.

But what activities within the maintenance of that infrastructure and renewal would you like to see captured for comparison?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I think what probably the best thing to do is -- what I planned to do on panel 2 was to walk through each program with my friends and show them previous applications to get a sense of where the comparisons are.

If I could take you in my compendium on page -- now I don't... On page 21, as an example, we were trying to get a sense of between what they called -- what I had sought in this interrogatory was getting a sense of -- with respect to underground direct buried and underground rehabilitation, a category in their 2011 rebasing application, against their 2012, this current application, get a sense of:  Is this the same?  Can we compare?

Essentially, what we're -- and this is a perfect example where my friends are saying, no, there are some things that are not comparable, but clearly there are things that are comparable.

MR. QUESNELLE:  This was something you had intended to raise with panel 2, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It was just an example.  But what I will do with panel 2 and what I plan is to go through each individual project and show them, and we can have that discussion if --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I would suggest we leave it until then.  Perhaps we're dealing with things at a higher level or more in abstract, and it is possible to move forward.

So let's get into the details with panel 2.  When we have something tangible you are pointing to, perhaps it will become more clear.  That may be helpful.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine with me.

If I could take the panel to page number 22 of my compendium, this is an excerpt from a witness statement by Mr. McLorg in the early rebasing application.

This is for question number 2.  This is the answer, and:
"While a limited number of discrete projects in THESL's capital plan might qualify for ICM treatment, they would be the exception.  The majority of THESL's capital program is composed of routine core business requirements of a distributor, customer connections, infrastructure renewal and other capital for customer services and distribution support.  These expenditures are clearly not extraordinary, and the Board has clearly stated that the ICM was not intended for and does not apply in these circumstances."

So if we look at, say, 2013, is it your position that Mr. McLorg is correct that the majority of the projects you are proposing are routine core business requirements of a distributor?

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I might point out Mr. McLorg will be on panel 3.  I think he would be the best person to respond about a statement he made in a previous case.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, they can be put to him, as well, but this is the capital planning panel.  They didn't put Mr. McLorg on the panel.  These are the individuals.  I am just asking for the capital planning folks' opinion.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think given the context and the way the question has been placed, I think the witnesses could respond to whether or not they agree with Mr. McLorg's depiction.

MR. PARADIS:  Without getting into the specifics - and I believe Mr. McLorg will be, you know, better suited to address his comments - I think we did state in our evidence, as part of the manager's summary, that our appreciation for the ICM criteria has evolved as we delve deeper into the body of information available, you know, on that topic, and I will leave it to Mr. McLorg to I guess comment on his own statements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My question wasn't asking you if you believed that the -- with his position that it wouldn't meet the ICM requirements.

It is simply this:  Do you believe, as Mr. McLorg had stated, that the majority of the ICM programs, as Mr. McLorg said, are routine core business requirements of a distributor, just that:  Routine core business requirements of a distributor?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PARADIS:  I think it is our position that the work that we're proposing meets the criteria of eligibility for the ICM.  And I think that, in itself, should answer your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  My question is simply:  Are the majority of programs routine core business requirements of a distributor?

MR. PARADIS:  I wouldn't call them "routine", and I would say that it is our requirement to maintain, you know, the overall safety of our system and the overall reliability of our system, and, in that sense, yes, it would be in alignment with our responsibilities as a distributor.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

If we could go back to, at a high level, your proposed ICM capital expenditures.  In 2012, you planned to spend 280 -- you had projected to spend $283 million.

This number was provided in the October 31st update, but that number itself was only as of October 31st, and we had asked in the technical conference, a number of parties, to provide a more up-to-date update of that number.

You said that -- Toronto Hydro said that you couldn't do that.  Can you explain why Toronto Hydro, a company of your sophistication, is unable to provide a more up-to-date figure for 2012?

MR. WALKER:  I think the reason that we said that is, because of the significant issues we've experienced in trying to ramp up our program, we were challenged to meet the spend target that we were chasing.

So that was why we were reluctant to say that outright.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So August 31st is -- we're coming up on three-and-a-half months ago.  Can you provide a more up-to-date figure of where your spending is as of today or December 1st?

MR. WALKER:  Yes, we could.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Well, can we get an undertaking for that, please?

MR. MILLAR:  J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE MORE UP-TO-DATE FIGURE OF WHERE SPENDING IS AS OF TODAY OR DECEMBER 1.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

Now, if I could take you to undertaking JT2.9 - this is our compendium at page 25 - and as well the next page, which is VECC IR 16 -- sorry, our compendium number 26.

Now, my read of that undertaking -- those undertaking responses are that, of the $283 million your forecast is to spend in 2012, only $116.31 million will go into service in 2012, and for 2013, of the 579.09 that you asked -- you are planning to spend in that year and seek recovery for in this application, only 283.76 million are going into service; am I correct?

MR. WALKER:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I asked by e-mail to Toronto-Hydro on Thursday -- and I will ask again now, and I think it would be helpful for Board and intervenors -- if Toronto Hydro can undertake to provide, in the same format as their summary of capital programs -- and that would be what we have provided on page 28, which breaks it down by project and segment -- the in-service additions for each of the years 2012 and 2013 associated with the proposed capital spending in 2012 and 2013.

MR. WALKER:  I think I would have to defer that to panel 3.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  I mean, I don't under...

[Witness panel confers]


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm a little unsure of why this would be for panel 3, why an undertaking can't be provided on it, especially because it would probably be helpful for panel 2 cross-examination.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps there is a misunderstanding as to what the -- are you suggesting panel 3 because it is a revenue requirement or leads to a revenue requirement, or the rates will be affected by this?

MR. WALKER:  It is a financial breakdown, which I don't have -- I don't have the ability to produce myself.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I wasn't suggesting you personally necessarily be the person who provides the undertaking, but it seems to me this is clearly a capital planning -- in that umbrella.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, the question was whether it can be done.  This witness doesn't -- can't do it.  It would have to be some other witness that would have to address whether it can be done.  Mr. Walker is -- can't do it.  He has said that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Cass, I think that to the extent that best efforts can be taken by the corporation to do this, I think what we would find someone that possibly can do it.  Otherwise, we're going to be at a bit of a loss here if we're going to be that silent on our thinking, because if Mr. Walker can't personally do it and yet it is evidence that would assist in this area, then we're going to be at a bit of a loss because the next panel won't be able to speak to the relevance as to whether or not they take the undertaking.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I don't know myself whether it can be done.  Perhaps you could leave it with us, then, that we would find out whether this can be done, if that is satisfactory.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am pretty sure it can be done, but I will take what I can get.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We're never in the business of asking for the impossible, so I suppose we will take that and if you can get back to us, then, as to the ability for your client to complete this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The next thing I would like to ask you, something that I am increasingly unclear about in your application, and it was mentioned today during your examination in-chief, is this distinction between in your capital planning perspective, the above- and below-materiality threshold categories.

So in tab 4B and all the individual capital projects and segments you are asking for the ICM, you consider it above the materiality.  And in tab 4C is what you call below the materiality, and includes operations portfolio, IT fleet and building of facilities.

I am trying to understand what -- I mean, I understand from a regulatory perspective the idea of the materiality threshold, but how did you determine which projects go above and which projects go below?

Essentially, is it interchangeable?  Can you help explain that?

MR. SADEGHI:  So when we put the ICM business cases together, the jobs that met the criteria of ICM and those business cases were put into the ICM business cases.

From our perspective, there is no distinction in terms of priority or non-discretionary nature of whether the job is below the materiality threshold or above that.  These are all jobs that need to be done.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So essentially it is a distinction just for the sake of this application.  The amount that you are seeking to spend, say, for fleet capital would meet the ICM criteria, if it was above -- if you had placed it in a B category, and you had placed something in the B category, one of your projects below?

There is no actual distinction, in your perspective?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SADEGHI:  To answer your question, I think I'm going to go back to my previous response and maybe I could elaborate a little bit more on that.

So when we put the ICM business cases together, as Guy mentioned earlier, we started with the projects, the segments, and then we got to jobs.

The jobs that met those ICM criteria were bundled into those ICM business cases, and the ones that didn't were funded through -- under the materiality threshold.

So for instance, let's look at the emerging portfolio.  The jobs that did not match the jobs in the ICM business case were funded through the emerging portfolio, for instance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I thought I understood it, and then at the end I think you confused me.

So are you saying they wouldn't meet the ICM criteria, jobs or spending that wouldn't meet the ICM criteria --


MR. SADEGHI:  So the jobs that met the ICM criteria were put into the ICM business cases which were submitted, and there is also jobs that didn't meet the ICM criteria, and therefore they were funded through the -- under the materiality threshold.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Perfect.  That is all I wanted to ask.

Now, the next thing, I would like to ask about the Feeder Investment Model.

My understanding from your evidence and what was said this morning is that it is really at the highest level -- I will leave to some of my colleagues to talk about some of the very specifics -- is it is a way for Toronto Hydro to determine what is the economically optimal time to replace an aging asset; am I correct?

MR. OTAL:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And Toronto Hydro used the Feeder Investment Model to determine that it must do some jobs in 2012 and 2013 -- they're in this ICM application -- versus some other time in the future?

MR. OTAL:  Well, in this case, the FIM was utilized to provide the supporting quantified business case results behind the segments that had been presented in this filing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So if you removed the Feeder Investment Model in the calculations, you would -- it would still meet -- is it your view that you would have enough evidence that you would meet the ICM criteria?

I am just trying to understand how integral the Feeder Investment Model is to it, sort of just at a high level.

MR. OTAL:  I would say the Feeder Investment Model represents one component of several components, as part of the full justification that we're presenting as part of this application.

So for each segment, it is really looking at the narrative in its entirety, looking at the data that is being presented, the visuals that's being presented, along with the quantified results that have been presented, as a complete package.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So with respect to sort of economically optimal time, you know, the word "optimal" to me is closer to -- is close to, you know, when is the most favourable time to do something.

But would you not agree with me that there is a difference between most favourable, optimal, and non-discretionary?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. OTAL:  So again, these results only represent one of the factors that we're using to drive the justification and the -- and to meet the eligibility requirements within these cases.

There is a number of other factors that are presented in the case that are not part of the quantified results, and that is really why the entire narrative must be looked at as a complete package, to specify the full justification and eligibility requirements.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But if we just isolate this, would you agree with me that most favourable, optimal, is not the same thing as non‑discretionary?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, I think that is correct.  It is not the same, and that's why I think we emphasize that the optimal intervention time is one of the many considerations that is part of the justifications that we put forward, and certainly not, you know, the sole.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  I would like to talk to you about reliability for a few minutes.  If I could take you to page 31, this is an excerpt from the Board's decision in EB‑2011‑0144.

I will read you a part of the second paragraph:
"Although THESL asserted that the high level of expenditures are driven by pressing system needs, the Board notes that on the existing capital spending level the company's reliability statistics show no marked deterioration, and the number of 'worst performing feeders' (a more important criteria than the reliability statistics, according to Mr. Haines) has been reduced by half – from 80 to 40."


There were a number of interrogatories on this issue.  On page 32 I have included some from staff IR 23, and AMPCO 5 also asked questions on reliability, and this is page 34 and 36.  There was some discussion in the technical conference.

But would I be correct in saying that the evidence as a whole would show that there's been no marked degradation of reliability over the past years?  In fact, in 2011 -- in fact, in 2011 -- no marked degradation from 2011.  In fact, with respect to 2012 it's been better than you have expected?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  So we already answered, I would say, the primary components of this question as part of the technical conference and within the evidence.  But essentially in 2012 the performance that we've seen has been predominantly due to mild weather, but, in general, we haven't seen any significant improvements with respect to reliability.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But at the same time, you haven't seen any deterioration overall in reliability?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  Well, that would also be due to the increased expenditures that we've been doing over the past couple of years.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's a yes, that there has been no degradation in reliability over the number of years?

MR. OTAL:  That's fair, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, during the technical conference, when asked about sort of comparability with respect to reliability to other Ontario LDCs, Toronto Hydro said internally it doesn't compare itself to other Ontario LDCs, but to larger international cities.

And I think Mr. Otal called it "world class cities".  That's how you compare yourself, too?

MR. PARADIS:  If I can just comment here, I think what is important to note is that we are comparing ourselves to our peers within Ontario, of course.

And I think the comment regarding comparators was more to the fact that there may be more appropriate comparisons for Toronto Hydro's performance than, say, a smaller utility in a rural environment.  And I think where we were going there was just to say that, at a high level, there may be more reasonable comparisons that can be made outside of, say, even Ontario.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You were asked to provide what cities Toronto does itself -- benchmarks itself with.  You provided the reliability eligibility peer group cities comparison undertaken by CapGemini.

I have included sort of the -- this was -- the undertaking is on page 40, and I just -- just for reference.  It is not important necessarily to bring it up.

Now, first, the report references a number of appendices, and I have included this on page 42.  If you go into the report, which I didn't excerpt, they reference a number of times the appendices, which I don't know exactly what's in them, but I would assume them to provide more detail and sort of the underlying information.

But it was not provided in the undertaking, and I e‑mailed on Friday Ms. Klein asking her to provide that information.

Can you undertake to provide the appendices to this report?



MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, it is not part of Toronto Hydro's application that the proposed work is necessary to bring Toronto Hydro towards the standards of these other cities.

It is Toronto Hydro's application that the proposed work is to maintain the reliability of its system.  So to get into a comparison with the cities around the world is not part of what Toronto Hydro was proposing.  If the Board sees this of value, we would need to check with CapGemini to find out about the ability to release data that relates to other cities around the world, utilities in other cities around the world.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein, what is your intended use of the document?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  They had referenced that they compared themselves, in the technical conference transcripts, to other cities.

They undertook to provide the report.  I just want to see the whole report to get a sense of what are we actually comparing.  If Mr. Cass wants to withdraw his comments or his client's comments in the technical conference about comparing themselves to world class cities and that is not what they're intending to do at all, then that is his prerogative, but that wasn't what I got a sense of what Toronto Hydro sought to do.



MR. QUESNELLE:  To the extent that this goes to I think the relevance of what's being asked for and the basis on which the application has been made, if it were a report that were on the shelf and there weren't any other issues with it, I think it may be interesting reading, Mr. Rubenstein.

But to the extent that there may be complications in obtaining it, I would ask:  Do you see a purpose for this, in that Toronto Hydro asserts that it is maintaining the reliability with the spend, not trying to move it up or down or establish any other criteria?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't --


MR. QUESNELLE:  It's not relying on the comparisons, and I'm wondering how you intend to use them.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I would like to just have a sense of what the information is in the report.

Now, I am not -- if it's confidential and there is all of these sort of things, my point isn't to sort of have that issue.

But if there a number of these appendices are simply sort of the peer group criteria, a better understanding of what that is, not the data from a specific utility, I think it is probably beneficial for the Board.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass, would you be able to provide the barriers to obtaining this?

MR. CASS:  Yes, we can find out, Mr. Chair.  It is my understanding -- I have not seen these appendices.  It is my understanding they are in the nature of raw data, but we can certainly find out from CapGemini what issues there may or may not be around producing the data.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps a better description of exactly what is in the appendices, if we can?

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rubenstein, would that be satisfactory?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That is satisfactory.  I would just add, as well, this might need to be added to that undertaking, but from my understanding, that report was filed in Toronto Hydro's EB‑2010‑0142 application.

So that would make it at least two‑and‑a‑half years old, the report, from at least -- from conceivably when that information was collected, and I was just wondering -- I couldn't find in the report when exactly that information -- you know, the data or the composite data that it gets from each utility is from 2008 and 2009, and I was wondering if Toronto Hydro can -- if you know, or, if not, if that could be added to that undertaking.

MR. PARADIS:  I don't actually know.  So perhaps it is something that we could seek to clarify, you know, through CapGemini.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  If you are moving on past reliability, just let us know, Mr. Rubenstein.  We will take a break at that point, unless you have some things you want to finish up on the reliability.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, that is my last section on reliability.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, should we assign an undertaking to the previous commitments?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, please.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be J1.2, and I understand it is to enquire with CapGemini into any roadblocks against providing the appendices identified in its report.

And then the second part related to how old the data is; is that correct, Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That would be correct.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  to CONFIRM ROADBLOCKS TO PROVIDING APPENDICES IDENTIFIED IN CAPGEMINI REPORT, AND CONFIRM AGE OF DATA.

MR. MILLAR:  That is J1.2.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Just a time check, Mr. Rubenstein.  How are you making out?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Fifteen, 20 minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  We will resume at 25 past the hour, 11:25.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:12 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Rubenstein, we left off with you.  Any time you are ready.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

If I could take you to compendium page number 43, you were asked to provide information that is required in the filing guidelines specifically with respect to the ICM requests that the distributors to provide descriptions of actions the distributor will take in the event the Board does not approve the applications.

You provided an answer, and I followed up at the technical conference - and the transcript is on page 52 to 55 of the compendium - about what specific jobs you will still undertake if Toronto Hydro didn't get its ICM.

The answer essentially from Mr. Walker was, at this time, Toronto Hydro didn't know.  So my question is -- you know, we're at the end of 2012 almost.  How does Toronto Hydro not know what projects, if an ICM is rejected, that it would still feel it would need to do?  How does Toronto Hydro not prioritize the jobs so it knows, if the Board denies the entire application or just some of it, what it will still do?

MR. WALKER:  Okay.  Well, should we have the entire thing rejected, we would have to go back to doing the work that is necessary to keep the system up and running.

So there are certain obligations we have.  We have an obligation to connect new customers, so we would have to do that work.  There is reactive work that occurs in every year that we have to undertake where equipment has failed and needs to be replaced, and then any remaining funding we might have would be done based on operational requirements.

And that's why I said that we don't know specifically.  We would look at the work -- the amount of funding we had and the work that we had remaining, and we would look at the work that could be most expeditiously carried out.

So work that was already in progress, work for which we had permits, would take precedence.  That's not to say that there isn't consideration of priority, but all of the work that we've identified is work of priority.  And so we would look at it from an operational perspective.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But at this time, Toronto Hydro internally doesn't have sort of a list of priority projects, so even if the Board says, Well, we agree that you should have an incremental capital module for 2013 and it should be roughly in the amount of this, some portion of it, you don't know which -- you don't have a list of jobs or a sense of a list of jobs, which programs -- or, sorry, which jobs you will do, which you think you can defer, which you don't think are -- you know, you just simply won't do?

MR. WALKER:  We do have an element of priority.  We do have jobs prioritized, but it is not an absolute priority.

As I mentioned in my opening examination, we consider all of the work to be of priority and we allow ourselves, for operational efficiency purposes, to choose the work that's most efficient to exercise, and that is what we would look at.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you couldn't prioritize for me - and I think we've asked this in some interrogatories and you said you couldn't - between segments.  So you couldn't say, For sure we're going to need to spend money on handwell replacements versus rear lot construction, if we're not granted the ICM or only a certain part of the ICM?

MR. WALKER:  That's correct.  We would not be looking at one segment as being more important than another.  They're all important to us.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But you would look at a level lower?  You could say job -- this job with respect to handwell replacements is more important than this specific rear lot conversion?

MR. WALKER:  That would be one element of our consideration, but it would not be the only one, and it might not be the overriding one.

If there is an operational issue with one of those jobs, that would be one that we would defer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so -- but let's just talk about putting aside sort of operational considerations to some degree, because -- and I take it that, you know, there are permits and there's availability of workers, and all those sorts of things, but just sort of a priority level, sort of.

You say all of the projects are non-discretionary, but I think we can agree that some are more urgent than others.  There's some -- you know, there is differentiating even if you agree that everything is non-discretionary.

Toronto Hydro has not prepared internally a list of the jobs that, you know, The first thing we have to do, all things being equal, is this job, and, you know, all the way down to this is the least important -- I mean, they're all important in your position, but the least important of the jobs?

MR. WALKER:  Well, I would be cautious with "urgent".  If something is urgent, we deal with it on a reactive basis immediately.

So the work that is not urgent but is of priority, is essential to us, we allow ourselves the latitude to execute it in the most operationally efficient manner.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Even if then we take out sort of urgency, I am just trying to isolate here an understanding of how you will prioritize your projects if the Board doesn't provide you with the incremental capital module, or at least the incremental capital module at the spending level that you are seeking.

Toronto Hydro doesn't have a list of sort of the priority projects - priority jobs, I should clarify - as of today?

MR. WALKER:  Again, I would say that the jobs are all essential, so I don't want to characterize one as a higher priority than the other.  They're all high priority work, and they will be executed in the most efficient manner that we can.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you very much.

The last thing I want to talk to you about is about executability, and this was something that was brought up today during your examination in-chief.

Mr. Walker, during your examination in-chief, you said one of the reasons Toronto Hydro updated its evidence for 2012 was to take into account some executability factors, and they include, you know, material lead times and the availability of specialized labour.

Would I be generally correct in saying that?

MR. WALKER:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when you prepared your application originally, did you take into account some of these factors to begin with?

MR. WALKER:  The original approach that we took to our application, keep in mind, started in January, and at that time we built a program that could have been executed under ideal circumstances.

What we found, though, was that because of the stop in work that we did and those executability factors that I mentioned, the ramp-up proved to be a challenge.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when you prepared that application, you were looking only at sort of ideal conditions?

MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, can you say it again?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No problem.  So when you prepared originally your original application, it was sort of looking at an ideal situation.  This is the work you want to do, not taking into account specialized labour availabilities and material lead times?

MR. WALKER:  Largely.  There was some consideration of it, but the expectation was, given the funding, we would be able to execute that work in a year.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, I don't want to have the debate that we had earlier on today, but you have done some of these things previously at some level.

So how did Toronto Hydro -- or why did Toronto Hydro not take into account -- I mean, you will have done some sort of things which required specialized labour, and you didn't take that into account when you originally filed your application.  And you knew that there -- you've done sort of things, and you're a sophisticated utility and you've done large capital programs over a number of years, that you know -- you know there are large or long lead times with respect to some materials versus others.

Why was that not taken into account?  I understand there's some sort of things that can happen last minute, but there are sort of general things that I don't understand why wouldn't that have been taken into account.

MR. WALKER:  Okay.  Well, as I mentioned in my examination, as an example, the contractor community that we had been building was decimated.  We are building some specialized labour capability in that community, which we lost.

In terms of lead times, material lead times, we had manufacturers with manufacturing runs specifically for us, and they shut those down and we had difficulty getting those back up again.

Those were things that we had not foreseen that proved to be more of a challenge than we would have expected.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So then my question turns to sort of the updated for 2013.  I am trying to understand how the Board can have confidence that the 2013 number is actually what you can execute, and you won't have other specialized labour availability issues, other material lead time issues or things that, you know, you didn't –- you hadn't considered certain factors for your 2012 year originally.

How do we have -- how can the Board have confidence that you can actually even execute what you are seeking for 2013?

MR. WALKER:  We have been able to deliver programs of this size in the past, and we have taken into consideration, under certain expectations, that we will be able to carry out this work.  We're confident that we can do it.

It's all a matter of stability in programs and in funding, as we talked about in other places in our evidence.  As long as we have some stability and some certainty, we can build our contractor communities, we can get manufacturing runs going on a consistent basis, and then we're able to deliver.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rubenstein.

Any volunteers to go next?  Mr. Faye?  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  As a preface to my questions, we're mindful of your comments on the time constraints for the hearing, and I wonder if we could be circulated with the total time required.  We did put in our requirements, but I don't -- at least Mr. MacIntosh and I didn't get an e-mail back, saying here is the accumulated time that everybody has requested.  That would be helpful to us in judging how much we need to curtail.

The second thing is that we had requested an hour and a half for this panel, and I'm quite prepared to truncate a lot of this stuff out that was detailed, if I could have consideration for panel 2.  We know we asked for six hours on panel 2, and panel 2 is much more important to us.

So I would do my best to cut this one way down and just ask your consideration when we get to panel 2.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Efforts will be noted, Mr. Faye.  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I can confirm Staff compiled the time estimates from all of the parties, and we can e-mail that to everyone.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be great, Mr. Millar.  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


Panel, I am going to make one big assumption here, and that is that everybody understands how the FIM model works, and that's why I can get rid of a lot of the stuff I was going to go through.

With that assumption, I would like to take you to our compendium.  And perhaps we will have an exhibit number for that, Mr. Chair?  This is compendium panel 1A.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That will be Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPEDIUM FOR WITNESS PANEL 1A.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It is coming up to us now, Mr. Faye, if you could just give us a moment.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We have it now.  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Looking at page 1 of our compendium, down at line 13 to 15, the model bases the magnitude of an outage on the peak load interrupted.

I just wanted to ask you, the peak load interrupted only happens, of course, at peak times, and that's not the time that all outages happen.

So I am wondering, does this overstate the effect on customers?

MR. OTAL:  So we had answered this particular question as part of the technical conference.  This was one of the questions that was provided to us from VECC.

Our answer basically is that this approach, it's a consistent approach for assessing impacts.  The data, the peak load data is -- it's available at the required granularity for us to use it as part of our analysis.

And accordingly, when we plan for our system, when we install new assets, new infrastructure, we use the peak load as part of that planning, to determine how we're going to install new infrastructure into the system.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that.  But in the FIM, you're trying to calculate the impact on customers, as I understand it, of an outage.  So by using the peak load, that's the very maximum number you could come up with, isn't it?  It's bigger than the average, for instance?

MR. OTAL:  Well, the peak load would represent the full amount of electricity that would be available to the customer when the outage takes place.  So essentially we're taking away that potential electricity and the potential uses of that electricity from the customer when that outage is taking place.

MR. FAYE:  Even if the outage happens in the middle of the night?

MR. OTAL:  Well, that outage could occur at any time.  And yes, you know, the idea is to account for the full availability of that electricity to the customer, but if I must add, we did also do a sensitivity analysis in many of our interrogatories, where we were asked to adjust our outage cost by 30 percent, and the majority of our business cases still came up directionally aligned with what we had submitted in our original answers.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Move to compendium page 3.  This one, I just want to clarify so that I make sure I understand.

The non-asset risk are things like cars hitting poles or pad-mounted transformers, animals getting into lines and causing outages, trees hitting lines and causing outages?

It is all the things that could happen to a line that really don't have anything to do with the condition of the assets themselves; have I got that approximately right?

MR. OTAL:  Yeah, that is correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So then you gather your information to quantify this non-asset risk.  You gather it at the feeder level, right?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  And then the number of customers on the feeder will have an impact on how large the number is going to be?  Have I got that right?

MR. OTAL:  No, sorry.  We don't take the numbers of customers at the feeder level.

We're simply taking the incidence associated with those non-asset-related events.  We're taking those at the feeder level, the events, and we also account for the average duration of those events in our calculations.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, let me back up just a step.

I took the peak load idea to mean that that's a pretty good proxy for the number of customers on the feeder.  I mean, there are different customer classes that use more or less electricity, but generally the higher the peak load on a feeder that serves a general average of your customers, would suggest that there is more customers on that feeder than another one that had a lower peak load.

Is that not a good assumption to make?

MR. OTAL:  So just to understand your question, if we were to do a non-asset risk evaluation at the feeder level, what you're suggesting is a scenario in which we were replacing the entire feeder, then we would take the -- we would account for that connected load in that area of study, which happens to be the feeder, so, then, yes, all of the load on that feeder.

But that's essentially what we're doing, is we're calculating the non-asset risk based on the specific area of study.  So if it was a neighbourhood, then we would just look at the connected load within that neighbourhood, just the area of study.

MR. FAYE:  And so you take the connected load in that area and that's the input to the model for -- to act as the amount of load interrupted in an outage?

Or do you take the whole feeder load, peak load, and divide it up by the number of metres on that feeder and then apply that number to the length of the section that you're considering?  So the neighbourhood, for instance?

MR. OTAL:  So if I may direct your attention to the -- one of our interrogatory responses.  This was EP 44, and this would be page 147, line 3.  This is where we actually provide the equation that we're using for the projected non-asset risk cost.

And if I refer to line 7 on here, what I see here is NAR - that stands for non-asset risk - that is equal to the SAIFI effect, and that is the $30 customer interruption cost, times the events.

And the events is what we're capturing within the area of study.  So, again, that is starting at the feeder level, and we take the amount of metres of that feeder and so we can get the amount of events per metre, and then we renormalize that to just the area of study.

And then the load in this formula is basically just a kVA of the area that we're studying, basically, the connected load of the area that we're studying.

Then that is sum totalled with the duration component - that would be the SAIDI effect - which is $15, again, times the events - that's the events of just that area - times the load, times the average duration associated with those non-asset-related events.  Then that whole thing is divided with the discount rate.

So in the application of how we perform the non-asset risk calculation, those are the steps we take, essentially, and that is how we put it within the formulation.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, that's a little different than I understand those lines on compendium number 3, lines 22 and 23.  I took that to mean that when you say that the customers interrupted and the customer hours interrupted are captured at the feeder level, I took that to mean the entire feeder is considered, not just the neighbourhood of the project that you're talking about.

Do you have data right down to neighbourhood that allows you to quantify an outage on customers interrupted and customer hours interrupted?

MR. OTAL:  So I would say that these two components are consistent with each other.  Basically in terms of the -- you know, when we're looking at the duration component, for instance, again, that has to be captured at the feeder level.

When we're looking at the events, the different events that have occurred, non-asset related events, that's captured at the feeder level.

MR. FAYE:  And that's normalized on a per-metre basis, is the way I understood this paragraph.  Have I got that right?

MR. OTAL:  That's exactly what's happened.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, we're on the same page.

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR FAYE:  All right.  Then let's flip over to the example that we have tended to use here.  This is page 7 and page 8 of the compendium, and it is the rear lot construction segment.

Do you have that?  Looking at table A1, here is the analysis for the existing rear lot.  The rear lot that is in bad condition, you need to do something to replace it.

And the projected risk cost of the asset is that $7.95, and that in the next table down for -- if you were to rebuild the rear lot just in place, $2.37.  That is a reflection of the fact that the new assets aren't as vulnerable to failing as the old ones, right, just because they're new?

MR. OTAL:  Well, it would be based on both the fact that they're new, as well as the manner in which those assets are configured in that new area.

MR. FAYE:  When you say "configured", could you give me the 25-cent idea of what that means?

MR. OTAL:  We would apply a slightly higher outage duration value when it is in rear lot as opposed to if it's in front lot.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Reflecting the fact it takes longer to repair in rear lot than it does front one, good.

Okay.  So that number is relatively small in the overall calculation here.  It is not going to have a great effect one way or another.

The next number, though, is the big one.  It really does have an effect, and that is the projected non-asset risk costs, $102.48 for the existing rear lot.  And it is the same number if you rebuild the plant in place, and I'm wondering why it would be the same.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  Because we would be applying the same overhead non-asset-related risks.  Those would not change.  As you mentioned, you know, it doesn't relate to the assets, the condition of the assets.  So it has nothing to do with the assets.  It has everything to do with whether it is overhead...

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So you are applying the same normalized value per metre to the new overhead as you did to the older one, and that is why the number comes out the same; right?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.  The option is referred to as a like-for-like replacement.  So, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I understand that.

MR. OTAL:  You would be taking that same infrastructure in the front lot.

MR. FAYE:  The impact of the whole feeder is reflected in that per metre factor that you are using?  This was the discussion we just went through that I wasn't certain I understood, and, when we came out at the end of it, I thought I did understand it.

You have normalized this per metre factor for non-asset risk, and that reflects a car hitting a pole on a main feeder before it ever gets to the subdivision?

MR. OTAL:  It is taking information at the feeder level, but when we're getting it down to a per-metre basis, and then we know the exact metres of that rear lot subdivision, we then recalculate what those number of events are going to be within just that studied area.  You know, you're going to have a different value.

So we're just looking at that specific area, but we're capturing our non-asset-related events, the inputs that we're using at the feeder level.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So just to clarify, the number, this number per metre, does it reflect events on the main feeder before it gets to the neighbourhood you are considering for replacement?

MR. OTAL:  Yes, it accounts for all of the events on that feeder.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, good.

Now, if you would flip over to page 8, and table A3 here is the comparison for undergrounding this in the front lot.

Here I see a non-asset risk of zero, zero dollars.  Could you say a few words about why it would be zero?  That is the lowest number you can get.  It can't be negative; right?  Okay.  So why is it zero?

MR. OTAL:  Because this is an underground system, and, in this instance the only underground-related, non-asset-related events that we're considering are digging events, because that's what we can extract and isolate from outage management system.

Digging events are only susceptible for direct buried cables, but we're installing cables in concrete-encased conduit.

So as a result, those non-asset risks are not applicable to these new concrete-encased cables.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So what if a car comes along the street and hits a pad-mounted transformer?  Is that a non-asset risk?

MR. OTAL:  Yes, it could be a non-asset risk.

MR. FAYE:  Well, it couldn't be an asset risk, could it?

MR. OTAL:  No.

MR. FAYE:  There is only two categories here.  There is asset and non-asset, so it would have to be a non-asset risk, wouldn't it?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  What about where the cables from that subdivision rise to meet the overhead circuit that supplies it?  They climb up the pole and attach to the overhead conductors.  If a car takes that pole out, is that a non-asset risk?

MR. OTAL:  That would be a non-asset risk to the wood pole.  That's not being changed; right?

So now if you have a wood pole and that's supplying into an area that is about to get rebuilt, what you're saying is that wood pole, it stays the same in your existing state and your new state of assets.

So you can certainly account for that non-asset-related risk, but mathematically it would cancel itself out when you compare the existing state of assets and their non-asset-related risks to the new state of assets and their non-asset-related risks.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  Let me just take that a step forward.

If the overhead conductor for the rear lot overhead is attached to that pole at a major intersection, then if a car hits that pole the rear lot overhead sees the impact of that in its per-metre factor, right?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct.

MR. FAYE:  So what's the difference between the rear lot overhead being connected to that pole and the front lot underground?  Why wouldn't the front lot underground see the same effect in its factor per metre?

MR. OTAL:  We're assuming that that pole that you're describing is part of that rear lot, right?

MR. FAYE:  No.  No, we're talking about where the underground cable comes out to a major intersection, and the cable doesn't go all the way back to the station.  It rises and attaches to an overhead circuit that goes back to the station.

So in both cases you're feeding this subdivision, either overhead or underground; both have to come from that main feeder somewhere.  And at the point where they're attached, why wouldn't they both suffer the same risk?

MR. OTAL:  So if what you're describing is a pole that is not part of your area of study -- so let's say you have a rear lot subdivision and you've got a pole that is outside of that rear lot subdivision.  It is actually not part of the area of study, and it wouldn't be considered in the non-asset risk calculation.

MR. FAYE:  We just discussed that the factor, the per-metre factor that quantifies the risk is at the feeder level, and then is superimposed on the neighbourhood under study, on a per-metre basis.

I thought we got that part straight.

MR. OTAL:  Uh...

MR. FAYE:  You're saying that is not true now?

MR. OTAL:  It is not superimposed.

MR. FAYE:  It is normalized?

MR. OTAL:  Again, we're taking information at the feeder level.  We're dividing it with the distance of that feeder.  So we're getting a per-metre amount of events that are taking place, and we're just considering the specific area of study now.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. OTAL:  So the number of events won't be the same.  It will be different, based upon the specific area of study that you're examining.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, I think we're not disagreeing on that factor.  I think we both understand that the same way.

I'm just saying that in the case of the rear lot overhead, it gets saddled with everything that happens on that feeder all the way back to the station, because you take the events and you divide them by the length of the feeder, and then you multiply that by the length of the section you're talking about in the neighbourhood.  So it is on a per-metre basis.

But the front lot underground, which is also attached to that overhead system, appears to have escaped any of these risks, even though it is exposed to them.  Wouldn't you agree with that?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  So again, just to clarify, following the calculation, the normalizing that we're doing, we would just be accounting for the possible events that could take place within the specific area of study.

We wouldn't be accounting for -- we're not taking, you know -- let's say if you had 20 outages on that feeder, you're talking those 20 outages and applying them to just that specific subdivision.  Because through the calculation that we're doing, we're looking at the total amount of distance on that feeder, and we know the specific amount of distance that we're about to replace within the subdivision.

So if we have a rear lot area, an area of study, we know the amount of distance that we're studying within that rear lot, so through that normalization process you're going to have a different amount of outages, right?  Different amount of events.

So it's -- that's how that process is performed, just for clarification.

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  As I said, I think we agree on this.  And I'm not certain why I am confused.

The factor, this is -- at the feeder level, you determine what this factor is.  It's the number of outages and the duration of the outages, but it is all munched up into some sort of a formula, and it is reflected on a per-metre basis.

So let's say that the feeder is 10 metres long -- or 10 kilometres long, and the section that you want to rebuild is one kilometre.

Well, sure, because it is a tenth of the length, the number of events that are going to occur on it are definitely less.  Sure, that makes sense.

But the events per metre are the same, on the neighbourhood you're considering and the 10 kilometres of feeder, right?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct, and that's due to the limitations of how we can capture that information.

It can only be captured at the feeder level.  We don't have that information at the exact geographical locations.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I understand that, and I appreciate that, you know, that data is not available.

But back to our little scenario here.  Why is the rear lot overhead exposed to that car hitting the riser pole when the front lot underground isn't?

They're both affected, they're both non-asset risks, and yet the cost of a non-asset risk for underground is zero.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  So just going back to the specific question about a pole hitting a car -- or, sorry, a car hitting a pole, and you're saying:  Okay.  Is that applied to the rear lot?

In our particular business case, we did look at the cars hitting the poles, and we looked at the final quantification that was produced in terms of the non-asset risk cost.  It actually accounts for less than one percent of that cost.

MR. FAYE:  So it's a fairly rare event, then?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  It has to be a rare event if it accounts for that little.

MR. OTAL:  For these particular rear lot feeders, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So what accounts for the bulk of the costs, then?

MR. OTAL:  I would have to imagine it would be the remaining non-asset-related risks, you know, the --particularly, you know, with the tree contacts that would be taking place.

MR. FAYE:  Animal contacts?  Are they -- they would be bigger than cars hitting poles, or they would happen more frequently?

MR. OTAL:  Sure.

MR. FAYE:  Human intervention, I think you got a category of those?  People putting ladders into overhead lines, things of that nature?  Ignoring the car for the moment, you know, other human interventions?

MR. OTAL:  I wouldn't be able to speak to those.  I don't have the data in front of me.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well, let's just go back to the two you seem fairly confident on, trees and animals.

Now, let's go back to the rear lot overhead.  You use tree cable on front lot overhead; am I right?  That's insulated aerial cable?

MR. OTAL:  Occasionally, we may install a tree-proof insulated conductor in certain areas, but it is not a general -- it's not a general rule.

MR. FAYE:  And some of the areas that you install it in are because you got a lot of tree contacts on the bare conductor and you want to mitigate that; is that true?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. FAYE:  We asked you an IR on here and that is what you told us.  I didn't put it in the compendium, but we can look it up if you like.

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And tree cable also mitigates animal contacts, right?

You also said that in the IR.  If you want me to draw it up, I can.

MR. OTAL:  Could you reference the IR where that was stated?

MR. FAYE:  Yes, but for me to meet my commitments to the Chair here, can I ask you to take it subject to check that you actually did respond to that IR, and I will get it for you at the break?

Okay.  Now, if you took that tree cable and you put it in the back yard, and subject to check, assuming that tree cable was used in the front yard to mitigate these tree contacts and animal contacts, wouldn't it make sense that would also mitigate those contacts in the backyard?

MR. OTAL:  Well, I believe we answered this, as well, as part of the technical conference, and you may see changes with respect to your non-asset-related risks, but that is not a practice that we perform to install --


MR. FAYE:  I'm not asking about your practice.

I'm just saying would this affect a non-asset risk if you did it?

MR. OTAL:  It may impact it, yes.

MR. FAYE:  It would impact it, wouldn't it?  I mean, you said it you use it on the front yard just for that purpose.  Is there something about the backyard that would cause the thing to be not applicable?

MR. OTAL:  No.  It would have an impact.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if you did that and you rebuilt the rear lot overhead with rear lot overhead, but you put in these kinds of mitigation measures, then that number on page 7, that $102.48 -- sorry, it is $102 million.  That number would go down, wouldn't it?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.  There might be an impact to that, to that value.  But, again, it is not part of our practice to install this type of an asset back in the rear lot, and there's many other drivers, of course --


MR. FAYE:  Yes.

MR. OTAL:  -- that are not factored in this quantified business case that are also driving the need to do that work.

MR. FAYE:  I completely agree with you, but I wasn't going to ask you those questions.  I was going to leave that for panel 2, because all I want to know is how the model works.

So mitigating the tree contacts and animals on the back lot lowers the NAR value on the sheets on compendium page 7.

And let me ask you the converse question about the underground.  If you were to consider cars knocking pad mounts off their foundations, cars knocking over the pole that the riser cables are on, road salt getting into your submersible transformers and rotting off the neutral.  I could probably think of a half dozen more things that can happen to your underground.

If you did consider that, then that number, zero, on page 8 for projected non-asset risk, that thing would go up, wouldn't it, just mechanicals of the model?

MR. OTAL:  Well, if I can specifically address some of those factors that you mentioned?  So you mentioned corrosion.

Corrosion of the assets, that would likely be more of an asset risk as opposed to a non-asset risk due to something environmental getting into that asset enclosure.

You mentioned cars hitting a pad-mounted transformer.  The fact that, you know, we don't have a particular cause code to isolate those types of events suggest that it really very rarely happens.  Further to that, our design practice is that where we have a transformer that is very closely located to the road and there is a chance of a potential risk there, we will install bollards around that transformer to avoid any potential issues.

MR. FAYE:  And so my question was:  If you were to consider these risks, that number would go up?  You're saying, No, if we consider these risks, that number stays exactly zero.

It never happens that the underground goes out because of a non-asset risk?

MR. OTAL:  Oh, I didn't say that.

I think that there would definitely be an impact to that number.

MR. FAYE:  Good.  You don't have to go any further.  I don't need you to quantify it or discuss it further.  That number goes up, and in our previous page there is a way of making the projected non-asset risk of the new overhead rear lot go down.

When you subtract all of this out on the bottom of the table on page 8, the projected NPV, that $32.99 positive number indicating positive benefit, that number gets affected, and that number is what you base your decision on, right, among other things?  The cost decision is based on that number?

MR. OTAL:  Well, again, the key thing is that our decision is really based upon all of the elements considered in this case.

This is just one element of our justification.  There is many other elements within this case that are presented.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  I am going to ask panel 2 about those two things.  I just wanted to make sure I understood how the model worked, and I think I do.

So I have a couple of questions on operations capital, and this -- excuse me.  The emerging issues capital, this is on compendium page 14 and 15 and 16.  Perhaps look at 16.  I think we can summarize everything right here.

You have $40 million in for 2013 on emerging issues.  And when I look at what emerging issues are, they sound very much like the kinds of things you are doing in your other capital in the ICM; is that right?  They're direct buried cable that comes up for replacement, and things of that nature?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So given the comprehensive, almost voluminous nature of the evidence that you filed, is there anything that you couldn't have anticipated that could now emerge?  Wouldn't every possible direct buried cable that is in danger of being replaced within a year or need be replaced within a year have been identified in that portfolio?

MR. SADEGHI:  Are you referring to the emerging portfolio?

MR. FAYE:  No.  In the underground infrastructure, direct buried cable segment.  Wouldn't all of the projects that you need to do in 2013 be somewhere in there?  Why would there be more that came out after this exhaustive search you have done?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. SADEGHI:  So, Mr. Faye, to answer your question, no, not everything has been covered in the ICM business case.  New stuff do emerge.

MR. FAYE:  New stuff like direct buried cables that you didn't know were in trouble, that does emerge during 2013?

MR. SADEGHI:  That is correct, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Given your previous discussion or your evidence in-chief about long lead times, can I assume that transformers, underground cable, the tree cable -- three XLPE that you want to use, are these a fairly long lead time item?

MR. WALKER:  They do have longer lead times, but they're not tremendously long, if you know what I mean.

MR. FAYE:  Could you sort of -- well, let's take cable.  How long does it take you to get cut lengths made and your job designed and all of that kind of thing made?

MR. WALKER:  I don't know the exact lead time on cable, but it is well within a year, if that helps.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So you're saying that if an emerging issue comes at you on direct buried cable January 1st, 2013, you've got to order the cable.  You have to design the job.  You've got to get your contract in place, or maybe you're doing it on unit contacts.  I don't know.

But some period has to elapse before that job can actually start; right?

MR. WALKER:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  And do you have a guesstimate?  Is it six months before you could actually get going on any of that kind of job?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WALKER:  I think that would depend on the urgency.  If it's something that's very urgent, something where we're experiencing very bad reliability, we would treat that more on a reactive basis and we could address it much more rapidly.

MR. FAYE:  By using stuff you've got for other projects?  Is that how you would accomplish that?

MR. WALKER:  That's right.  We would rejig the work program and free up materials we had on hand to do that work.

MR. FAYE:  Right.  So let's take the one where I think it says in the evidence that these are the kinds of things that have to be done within a year.  I think that is how that was characterized, the emerging projects; am I right there?

Let's take one of those projects.  It doesn't have to be done tomorrow, but it has to be done within a year.  Would that be about six months to get it started?

MR. SADEGHI:  Mr. Faye, just to clarify your earlier statement, it doesn't say it has to be done within a year.

What we have in the evidence is that typically they are done within a year.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Typically they're done within a year?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  So that is different than having to be done.  Typically they do get done within a year; is that right?

MR. SADEGHI:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So I am just asking -- you know, it is not an emergency.  You don't have to go out there and do it to get people back in service.

So that kind of project.  You're starting from square one, you're designing the thing, notifying the neighbourhood, ordering the material, getting your contract.  Is that about six months to get that process done?

MR. PARADIS:  Maybe I can illustrate by giving an example.

So we recently had a case of, you know, a cable that started failing.  And, you know, we addressed the issue on a reactive basis, so, you know, we found the failure, we repaired it and then left the site.  So we did the first repair on a reactive basis.

And then we found that a week later it failed once again.  So once again we went out and did a reactive replacement of the failure location, and we left the site.  And once again, we found, you know, two weeks later that another failure would occur.

At which point, we decided that, you know, those failures were occurring at a frequency that was unacceptable, and we undertook to do a more targeted and yet broader replacement of the specific area that was at risk, or was failing.

And so we have been able to execute that type of work in a matter of weeks, in fact.

Of course, it requires us to redirect some resources to expediting the design and, you know, obtaining the materials for that precise work, but we do have cases where, you know, failures direct us to address an area more precipitously than we had anticipated having to do.

And so the exact lead time, if you will, is highly dependent on the circumstances.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And I recognize that is true.  Let me take it from a different angle.

You've robbed Peter to pay Paul here, in this case.  You don't have the material, so you had to take it away from a project that you were going to do in 2013.

Doesn't that slot forward go into 2014, that project?

MR. WALKER:  I think that depends on the timing.  If something occurs early in the year of an emergent nature, we can undertake that work, potentially use materials that were -- and resources that were identified for another job.  And then we have time to reschedule that work, that work that got deferred, within the year and deal with it.

If it happens later on in the year, then yes, it is possible that something would get pushed out into the next year.  That is an operational -- operationally normal circumstance.

MR. FAYE:  Of course.  So you get things happening July.  That might be the kind of circumstances where there has to be some push forward.  You're just not going to get it all done that year; fair?

MR. WALKER:  Yes, exactly.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are all of my questions, and I note that it is...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Faye.  That mathematically doesn't work, to double the six hours, but anyway that's...

[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  We do have -- we were going to break at approximately quarter to 1:00.

So I believe would VECC or CCC be -- Mr. Janigan, are you in a position to start and potentially complete?

Perhaps your microphone...

MR. JANIGAN:  I just have a few questions to ask of the panel, and perhaps I can do it in -- I can certainly get it in within that period of time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be great.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Panel, I heard -- I believe it was Mr. Walker, but I apologize if I have the wrong panellist that said this -- that your original application to the Board, that was turned down, was a reasonable ask.

Have I got -- Mr. Walker, did you say that this morning?

MR. WALKER:  I don't think I used those words.  Not that I remember, anyway.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Unfortunately I don't have the record of the panels, but I believe one of you indicated that what the -- the original application in -- I guess, in the view of the panellists was a reasonable ask.

Would you agree with that, that statement?

MR. WALKER:  Are you referring to the original ICM application?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.

MR. WALKER:  I would ask what you mean by "reasonable" in your mind before I can answer that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, let's say that -- perhaps I can put a definition to that.  In fact, it probably met the qualifications for an ICM application if the evidence had been produced in an appropriate way.

Would you agree with that?

MR. WALKER:  I --


MR. JANIGAN:  In other words, the projects that you applied for probably met the definition of the ICM -- for the ICM test, if the evidence had been marshalled by Toronto Hydro in an appropriate way?

Would you agree with that?

MR. WALKER:  I'm not sure what you mean by marshalled in the appropriate way.


We do believe that the work that we put forward meets the ICM criteria, absolutely.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And did you believe that when you put that forward earlier in the year?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And as I understand it, the ICM criteria, which you've set out in -- I believe on page 17 of your manager's summary.  I think you've got the addendum.  The original manager's summary on page 17 indicates on page 17 -- well, actually it starts on page 16 and then 17 -- essentially situations of urgent need as being a prime priority for an ICM application.

Would you agree with that?

MR. WALKER:  We did consider need, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And the other qualifications, of course, you have to meet statute requirements, the considerations of safety, existing or imminent reliable degradations, and existing or imminent capacity shortages.

You considered all of that when you made your original application, did you not?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And in fact, by the looks of all of these considerations, they are ones which a responsible utility would proceed with, given the nature of the responsibility that's been put upon you; would you agree with that?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I guess my question is:  When you were turned down by the Board, why did you immediately stop work at all of these projects, which you have just told me are motivated by need, public safety and all of these other considerations?

MR. WALKER:  The reason we stopped is because we lacked the funding to carry forward with that work, and so we needed to take a step back and look at what we could accomplish with the funding that we had.

MR. JANIGAN:  And you were not concerned at the time that, given what you felt about those projects in terms of need and safety, that these were something that you had to proceed with on an immediate basis?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. WALKER:  What we did was, we -- under the circumstances, we felt it was reasonable to stop and, you know, take an assessment of what we could do with the funding that we had.

And ultimately, we did undertake work beyond our depreciation level and have carried out that work throughout the remaining part of the year, subject to our difficulties in ramping up.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, when you stopped that work, were you aware of the -- I believe you termed it "executability problems," that might arise as a result of the stoppage?

MR. WALKER:  Well, any time we stop work, we face that potential.  But we didn't know the timing, how things were going to evolve through the rest of the year.

MR. JANIGAN:  Did you do any study of how much the stoppage might cost, in terms of pursuing the work in the future?

MR. WALKER:  The total amount of work?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.

MR. WALKER:  Not specifically at that time, no.

MR. JANIGAN:  Did you do it for any aspect of the work, what it might cost because of the stoppage?

MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure what you're asking me.

MR. JANIGAN:  Well, there are some additional costs you have had to pay or had to incur, and certainly a time factor in terms of when the work can be done as a result of the stoppage.

Did you do any study, before you stopped the work, as to what this might -- what the costs or what the time factor might entail?

MR. WALKER:  No.  We felt we had to stop work immediately, and so we undertook to do that as rapidly as we could.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Janigan.  Ms. Girvan?

MS. GIRVAN:  Would it be okay if I went after the break, and then I can organize my thoughts, given what has transpired this morning?  Thanks.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine.  I am just looking at the time estimates.  Why don't we break for lunch now, rather than have someone start that has asked for more time than would be suitable at this point, and we will return at 1:30?  Thank you very much.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:32 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon.  Please be seated.

Ms. Girvan, are you prepared to start us off this afternoon?

MR. FAYE:  Mr. Chair, could I interject a moment?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, certainly, Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  I had left unanswered the IR that referred to a discussion I was having with the panel, and I just wanted to put that on the record so that they could have a look at it.  There are actually two IRs.

The first is Energy Probe 37; that is tab 6(f), schedule 7-37.  And Board Staff schedule 6(f) – sorry, tab 6(f), schedule 1-59, 59.  And the first one talks to tree cable, and the second one talks to tree cable and animal guards.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Faye.

Ms. Girvan?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  My name is Julie Girvan, and I am a consultant for the Consumers Council of Canada.  I just have really a few brief questions.

Mr. Walker, I think this is really for you.  I am trying to go back and understand sort of chronology and what happened after the Board issued its decision in terms of rejecting the rebasing application.

So you had mentioned that when that happened, all work was halted.

How did that happen?

MR. WALKER:  Well, first of all, I want to clarify not all work was halted.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.


MR. WALKER:  We looked at how much money was left to us under the IRM framework, and then we determined from that how much work we thought we could carry out, and then we put a stop to the rest of it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  What was the directive to you, as a planner, within the company?

MR. WALKER:  Well, I'm not a planner.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. WALKER:  I'm the execution person.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, you are on the planning process panel.  I just thought...

MR. WALKER:  Right.  But, just for a distinction, though, my job is to look at the work program from an execution perspective and determine how we will execute on it.  So I just want to make that clear.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So what were the directions to you and your group of people, in terms of that decision?

MR. WALKER:  What we were told to do was to stop all work that exceeded the depreciation amount threshold.

Mainly, we focussed on work that was being executed by contractors, because we knew that we had to deal with the contractors before we looked to our own staff.

And so that was how we approached it, and we stopped work on that basis.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Was there any sort of formal memo within the company with respect to those directions?

MR. WALKER:  Not to my recollection.

MS. GIRVAN:  So how would you have gotten your instructions?

MR. WALKER:  Well, we had several meetings where we sat down and looked at how much money we thought we had, and what the work program looked like.

We worked closely with our asset management compatriots to try to figure out how the program would go forward.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you undertake to find out if there were any formal instructions given to people in the company with respect to that decision?

MR. WALKER:  Sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  to CONFIRM WHETHER THERE WERE ANY FORMAL INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN TO EMPLOYEES WITH RESPECT TO THE REBASING DECISION.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

So you said the work was halted or it was changed as a result of that decision, and you said that -- I think it was one of the first things you said this morning -- that there were three sort of operational things that happened.

And the first was the loss of the contractor labour forces.  And I just wondered if you could start with that and explain to me exactly what happened.

MR. WALKER:  Well, we approached our contractors and we told them that we no longer had work available for them, because of the lack of funding.

So the contractors had built a significant presence within the Toronto area in order to service our work program.  And as a result, they were forced to make their own business decisions around what to do with those forces, and in many cases, those forces were laid off.  In some cases, if the contractor firm had a presence in other areas, they looked to re-deploy those people into other areas.

But basically they left the Toronto area, if you want to look at it that way.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you had contracts in place with these contractors, to do the work that --


MR. WALKER:  Yes, we did.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- the original $590 million worth of work?

MR. WALKER:  Yes, we had contractors, but the contracts did not stipulate any spend level.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So was there a cost in terms of breaking those contracts?

MR. WALKER:  No.  The contracts were set up on a unit-price basis.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. WALKER:  And there is no guaranteed minimum or maximum level of work within those contracts.  So there is no contract requirement for any particular level of work.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you said that created some problems for you.

What problems did that create for you?

MR. WALKER:  Well, the problems occurred when we then decided to try and start work again, and those contractors had all left.

So when we went back to the contract firms and said:  Hi, we're here again, we're ready to start working, we had some challenges -- or they had some challenges attracting people, rebuilding their capability and having resources available to us.

MS. GIRVAN:  So why was that decision made, to go back to the contractors and say:  Okay, we're going to start to do the work again?

MR. WALKER:  Well, we determined that we were going to take on work again, and the level of that work required that we have external resources again.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So when was that decision made?

MR. WALKER:  That was, I guess, around May.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  The second problem that you cited this morning was regarding suppliers, and I just wondered if you could, again, elaborate on what particular programs you encountered with respect to your suppliers.

MR. WALKER:  Well, when we were executing on our full, original program, we had -- the manufacturers actually had extra runs, manufacturing runs in place, as I understand it, just to service Toronto Hydro's needs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Can you explain to me what "extra manufacturing runs" means?

MR. WALKER:  It would be like an assembly line set-up, and resourced specifically to produce materials for us.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So materials that are sort of standard to your operating business?

MR. WALKER:  That's right.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So what -- again, what was the problem with respect to that?  And then how did you address that problem?

MR. WALKER:  Well, again, when we stopped work, we went to the manufacturers and said that, you know, we no longer needed that material that we had in the pipeline.

So they had to -- similar to the contractors, they stopped those lines and I presume they re-deployed or laid off the people that were -- were running those lines.

MS. GIRVAN:  Were there any contractual arrangements with those suppliers?  That had to be broken, for example?

MR. WALKER:  To be honest, I'm not an expert on our procurement contracts.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. WALKER:  So I don't know for sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But you assume that there was added costs related to that decision?

MR. WALKER:  I can't speculate.  I'm not sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  You can't?  Okay.

And then the third aspect that you referred to this morning was about permits and having to cancel permits, and then potentially, when you started -- made a decision to bring back that work on-line, had to reapply for permits.  Can you elaborate again on that particular problem?

MR. WALKER:  Well, we don't cancel the permits.  We're given a permit from the city, and it has a time period associated with it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Are there costs to those permits?

MR. WALKER:  Yes, there are.

MS. GIRVAN:  Are those costs significant?

MR. WALKER:  I think they're about $600 per street within an application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. WALKER:  Again, don't quote me on that, but I think that is roughly the cost, so --


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you have any sense of how many of those permits that you paid for essentially ran out?

MR. WALKER:  No, I don't.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you estimate that?

MR. WALKER:  It's hard to say.  In some cases we were able to get extensions, but in other cases we weren't.

I really don't -- I'm not able to produce a...

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you estimate a cost?  Like, in terms of $100,000, $200,000, a million dollars?

MR. WALKER:  Again, I wouldn't want to speculate on that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So what I'm really looking for with respect to these sort of problems that resulted from the decision to halt a great deal of your work, I wondered if there is any way you could estimate for me for 2013 what incremental costs are related to those particular problems.

MR. WALKER:  To the... sorry, can you say the question again?

MS. GIRVAN:  So you have these problems, the loss of the contractor or labour forces, you had the problems with suppliers, and you have to reapply for permits.

Is there any way you can estimate for 2013 the incremental costs associated with those particular problems?

MR. WALKER:  There would be --


MS. GIRVAN:  You have to apply for new permits?

MR. WALKER:  Well, the 2013 program that we're undertaking is, in essence, starting anew in '13, so there would be no impact.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  No impact with regard to suppliers at all?

MR. WALKER:  That's right.  We've -- we have re-engaged our contractor community and started to build that up again.  We've re-engaged our manufacturers and are producing materials again for the program we have in place today.

So our expectation is that would carry through into 2013.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I just want to take you through, again, just in terms of a planning perspective, if you can just help me understand the sequence of events and how you went from A to B.

What I'm looking at first is you had the 2012 rebasing application, and in that application you had some $590 million in capital for 2012.

Then there was a decision made to halt the work, as we just discussed.  Then you filed an application in May, which on the original evidence was an amount of $448 million.

Can you tell me how you went from the $590 to the $448 million as a first step?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PARADIS:  So as we mentioned earlier today, as a result of the decision, we went back to looking at our asset needs and issues that were existing in the system, and, in reviewing the criteria for ICM eligibility, we identified the work that would be required to be performed and met the criteria for eligibility.

Then we proceeded to create, as we mentioned, the segments, and then the jobs for execution of the work.

MS. GIRVAN:  So essentially it was really -- I think you discussed with Mr. Rubenstein this morning it was essentially a top-down approach.


MR. PARADIS:  Well, we went back to the most fundamental level, which is looking at the asset need and the system need, and what we needed to do in order to maintain existing reliability levels and manage the overall inherent safety of our system.

Then we proceeded to develop segments and jobs from there, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So how did you come up with the amount?

MR. PARADIS:  The exercise was to let the need drive the amount, essentially.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I'm still having trouble going from the 590 to the 448 in terms of what changed in terms of your needs, because in 2011 you were saying that in 2012, our needs are such that it's $590 million.

Then you came forward in May of 2012 saying our needs are now $448 million.

MR. PARADIS:  Right.  So if I may take an example, and I think I referred to it this morning, but, for example, our PILC proposal between what we had in our previous application and the one under review at this time.

Originally we had hoped to do a more, for lack of a better word, proactive replacement approach whereby we would target the older cables and cables that were potentially undersized for replacement.  And as a result of our review and as a result of our alignment to the ICM requirements, we then migrated to more of a targeted replacement whereby we will only be addressing, you know, specific location with known leaking pieces of cable.

So we went from a broader investment approach to a more targeted need-driven investment.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what were your objectives in terms of moving to that targeted need-driven approach?

MR. PARADIS:  Well, the objective was to ensure that we can maintain the safety of the overall system in alignment with the ICM criteria.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So then in August of 2012, you came up with an amount that I think was originally $274 million.  I think it has changed a bit for 2012.

I wanted to know -- to have a better understanding of the process that you went through, again, going from the 448 as filed to the 270 amount.

MR. WALKER:  Okay.  Well, we were given approval to take on work again sometime around May, and then we began to build another work program.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, just to stop you there, what approval were you granted?  What kind of approval?

MR. WALKER:  Approval to spend beyond the materiality threshold.  Thank you.  I couldn't come up with the term.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So who gave you that approval?

MR. WALKER:  Well, our executive informed me that we could go ahead and start to spend money.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan -- can I just stop you there for a moment, Ms. Girvan?

My understanding was earlier that the criteria for spending was the spending that would match the depreciation?

MR. WALKER:  That's the materiality threshold that I mentioned.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry, I'm using materiality in a different context.  Sorry.  Thank you.  Sorry for interrupting, Ms. Girvan.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's okay.  Were there any memos or directions from your senior executive regarding that decision?

MR. WALKER:  Again, not that I can recall.  I'm not sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could you undertake to find that out?

MR. WALKER:  Sure.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE ARE MEMOS OR DIRECTIONS FROM SENIOR EXECUTIVE REGARDING APPROVAL TO SPEND BEYOND THE MATERIALITY THRESHOLD.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I am still struggling a bit with the process that you went through.

You had the 448, and now you are making yet another change down to the 274.  I just wonder again what changed between that time.

I understand between the 590 and the 448 you went to a more targeted approach, but I am struggling with understanding what changed between that targeted approach, then, to the 274 million.

MR. WALKER:  Okay.  So then we started assessing the work that we had in our hands and we started trying to build a work program based on executability.

MS. GIRVAN:  So what was the timing associated with that?

MR. WALKER:  Well, it would have started in around May when we were -- you know, when we decided to ramp up again.

MS. GIRVAN:  So you had approval of the 448.  You sat down and decided, Okay, what can we do with that amount of money and how are we going to prioritize it?

MR. WALKER:  We were allowed to start spending again.  I don't -- I don't think we were given 448, but we were told to continue to try and spend again.  And we looked at the work program, from an executability perspective, and said, What can -- what do we think we can actually do, given those challenges we talked about?

In the course of building that program, we realized we couldn't get to that level and the only level we could get to is the one we're talking about now.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So it was more of a capacity in terms of being able to do that versus --


MR. WALKER:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So then, again, in moving towards 2013, I guess my question is really sort of ramped up in 2012 significantly.  Now you are going to ramp up a huge amount more than you did in 2012, and I just wondered if you can help me with your ability or your capacity to actually undertake that work.

MR. WALKER:  Sure.  Well, first of all, I will say that we have in the past been able to generate and complete work at those kind of spending levels that we're talking about in 2013.

So we have, you know, the capability to execute on that, but, more importantly, although our 2012 overall spend is reduced, most of that spend has occurred in the last part of the year and we have been ramping up significantly.

So our capacity at the moment is significantly beyond what our 2012 spend would represent.

MS. GIRVAN:  All right.  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.

Mr. Crocker, thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I should introduce myself.  My name is David Crocker, and I am the disembodied voice from behind the pillar who said he represented AMPCO, and my colleague, Shelley Grice, wants to remain hidden behind the pillar.

I want to talk to you about the Feeder Investment Model.  I apologize in advance if I call it the feed-in tariff.  I will try not to.

It is a predictive tool, is it not?  Like all mathematical models, it is a predictive tool?

MR. OTAL:  It is a tool where we're looking at the risk of asset failure, and part of that is determining the probability of failure, which is, yes, it is predictive.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And it helps you determine where to focus your attention in terms of capital projects; correct?

MR. OTAL:  It helps us identify essentially the assets that are really exhibiting the greatest risks to the distribution system.

MR. CROCKER:  And therefore where to focus your capital spend, in some respects?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. OTAL:  In addition to all of the other elements that, you know, we've described before, such as safety, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you have other predictive tools that you use, other models, other similar predictive tools?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. OTAL:  There would also be our health index, our asset condition assessment program.  That, in some respects, would be predictive because it is telling us what's the condition of the asset.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And others, or is that it?

MR. OTAL:  Yeah, there would be a series of -- there's other tools that we also use in order to provide a level of prediction in what's happening within our system.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Speaking hypothetically, then, if you were to use the tools available with you, if, as I say, hypothetically the Board were to award you 80 percent of what you are asking for in this application, would you be able to use those tools to prioritize what you were going to do?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. OTAL:  So as part of our engineering processes, we'd certainly leverage all of our tools to understand the conditions of the system, to give us that information, how we wish to proceed.

MR. CROCKER:  So can I take it that that is a yes?  You would be able -- that's what you would do?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  How difficult would it be for you to conduct that exercise?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PARADIS:  Could you clarify what exercise you're referring to?

MR. CROCKER:  The exercise of using the tools that you've described to me that you have, including the Feeder Investment Model, to prioritize, should the Board award you -- I said hypothetically -- 80 percent of what you're asking for, to determine what you -- what capital projects you would undertake and what you wouldn't.

MR. PARADIS:  Well, in the hypothetical situation that we were to get a decision that is less than what we considered to be necessary, as previously mentioned, to maintain existing reliability and overall safety of the plant, what we would have to do is gather as, you know, a planning and engineering group, evaluate the circumstances of that decision, the circumstances that we find ourselves in, including, you know, execution considerations, and as part of that process of determining how we would move forward, certainly we would leverage our existing tools.

The difficulty of the time -- or the time requirements associated with, you know, going through that process is a little difficult to assess at this time.  It's something that would be more appropriate to evaluate once that decision is made.

MR. CROCKER:  And you have done nothing of that kind in advance of this hearing?  None of that prioritization?

MR. PARADIS:  As we mentioned, given that we considered the ask as being needed and prudent to maintain our existing reliability levels and the safety of the overall plant, it would be imprudent for us to create a plan that would make consideration to other scenarios.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Just talking about the Feeder Investment Model specifically for a little bit, in assessing the -- or in determining what an asset-related failure is, or the costs of an asset-related failure, you take into consideration, do you not, both the costs of replacement and the costs to the customers?  Or the customer?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  In determining the cost to the customer, can you tell me, please, how you have used the SAIFI and the SAIDI effects of a potential failure?

MR. OTAL:  Sorry, could you elaborate that question?  Are you saying how have we used our customer interruption costs, specifically?  Or...

MR. CROCKER:  Well, what I'm asking you is:  How does the selection of the SAIDI and SAIFI impact relate to the cost of the customer that you factor into an asset-related failure cost?

MR. OTAL:  So how it would relate is if we look at an outage and what is happening to the customer and we split that outage into two distinct stages, one being the event, really like the frequency when that interruption has first taken place.  And that really is representing an immediate disconnection of all activities involving electricity for that customer.  And so there is going to be a monetized value associated with that stage of the outage.

And then the second stage of the outage, the duration phase, that's where, you know, the customer has readjusted their activities to reflect -- or to account for the loss of electricity.

So their shock in that second stage of the outage would be considerably reduced, but at the same time, as the outage continues to linger, that's still going to increase the inconvenience associated to the customer.

And so that's essentially how we've come up with those monetized values.  You would expect the monetized value when the event first takes place or the frequency to be a greater value, as opposed to the duration aspect.

MR. CROCKER:  And you would agree with me, would you not, that the SAIDI particular factors affects different customer classes differently?

MR. OTAL:  Depending on the nature of the customer, yes, that may vary.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And have you -- when factoring in the particular -- particularly the SAIDI factor in your costs of an asset-related failure, have you done it differently for different customer classes?

And just so that it is clear, we represent your large users.

MR. OTAL:  Well, to differentiate between the different assets and -- well, we're really accounting for the loads that those assets are connected to, essentially.  And so we apply the same customer interruption cost to all of our customers, but we account for the loading.

So if you have larger customers in a given area or if you have a particular asset that happens to be supplying or, you know, connected to a very large amount of load, then obviously that would be reflected as part of the calculation.

MR. CROCKER:  And so are you telling me that you do differentiate the costs among customer classes?

MR. OTAL:  No.  We apply the same customer interruption cost to all customers, but the load is going to vary between different areas, right?  And, I mean, you know, depending on where that asset is located in the system, you might have a large amount of residential customers and a small amount of commercial customers, or another area you might have a large amount of commercial customers, small amount of residential customers, but it is not so much the customer classes.  It is the load that is going to vary.

But we're applying the same customer interruption costs to all customer classes.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Do you consider in your calculation -- you go ahead.  Are you okay?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you consider momentary outages in your costs?

MR. OTAL:  No, we do not consider momentary outages at this time.

MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with me that momentary outages can be a significant cost to large industrial users?

MR. OTAL:  In momentary outages, yes, they can have an impact on large customers, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The Feeder Investment Model uses an asset life of 100 years for the study, correct, or a planning model of 100 years -- study period of 100 years?

And I wondered, just to let you know why I asked, why, in your understanding that figure was used, and is it reflective of the asset life of the assets in your experience?

MR. OTAL:  So this was actually a question that we got as part of an interrogatory.  It was in our response to EP 43, page 4, line 2, and that's where we state that our cost of ownership calculation, it is performed over a 100-year period as opposed to the expected life of the assets, as the NPV calculation must be performed over the same time period for all assets being evaluated, such that we can make comparison between different assets or a set of assets and their respective cost of ownership values.

The 100-year period is long enough to cover all major asset classes that are evaluated within the Feeder Investment Model and assets with an expected life shorter than that 100-year time period, are reflected within the calculation as having multiple life cycles; that is, the replacement cost includes the replacement of the asset when it reaches its anticipated end of economic life.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  I understand how you have used it, but my question was:  Is 100 years a reasonable number under the circumstances, as far as you are concerned?

[Witness Panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  Absolutely.  I think for comparison purposes, it's very reasonable.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I don't think I have anything further.

Thank you, panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Crocker.  Mr. Brett, I think that might be you up to bat.

MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

Good afternoon, panel.  I would like to start, if I may, by asking you to turn up the portfolio capital evidence.  That is schedule C; tab 4, schedule C, page 1 of 9, operations portfolio capital overview.

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, if we look at this -- look at page 1.  There's two areas that I want to talk a bit about.  You did speak at some length with Mr. Faye this morning about the worst performing feeder issue or category and how that relates or doesn't relate to what is in the ICM, so I will leave that.

I want to speak just, first of all, with respect to engineering capital.  Is it -- and this is described at page 2 of the evidence.  It represents labour costs that are capitalized, although they're not directly attributable to specific distribution system assets or projects.  Do you see that?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Is that a customary practice, for you to capitalize labour charges, hours that are not linked to specific projects?  And, to your knowledge, is it standard practice among utilities?

[Witness Panel confers]

MR. SADEGHI:  So in response to your question, I can't comment on whether other utilities follow the same practice, but I believe that one of the interrogatories that we have -- the response to interrogatories we have may be answering your earlier question.  Tab 6F, schedule 1-67, Energy Board Staff Interrogatory 67.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  It says that?

MR. SADEGHI:  Engineering capital costs are allocated to projects at the time of completion, based on the cost of each project before the allocation.  The total cost of each project is then capitalized to a specific asset.  Therefore, all of the engineering capital costs are ultimately capitalized to a project-specific asset.

MR. BRETT:  So that would mean, then, that the statement I read to you that engineering capital represents labour costs that are capitalized, although they are not directly attributable to specific distribution system assets or projects, that would be wrong, then, that statement?  That sounds like it contradicts what you just said.

MR. WALKER:  If I can try to clarify, I think the term is "directly attributable".

These are for costs where it is impractical for people to directly charge to a project or to a job because they might be dealing with, you know, 100 of them in the course of a day.  So we treat it somewhat differently.

They're still supporting the capital program, but it is not practical for them to charge directly.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, if I can look down to the -- going back to page 1, continuing projects and emerging issues portfolio, and you have 55 million in there for 2012 and 40 million in for 2013.  Do you see that?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Now, could I ask you to turn up -- just keeping your eye on that, turn up J2.14, please.  That's schedule 2-14 -- undertaking J2.14.  That is an undertaking from the technical conference, okay?

Do you have that?

MR. SADEGHI:  We're just looking at it on the screen.

MR. BRETT:  Do you have that now?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes, I'm looking at it.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, then, if you see -- over the page, page 2 of 2, there is a table there, and it shows, if you look over on the right-hand side, 2011 filed.  What that does is give you the capital budget filed by Toronto Hydro in the 2011 case, right?  That's your most recent litigated case?

MR. SADEGHI:  Okay.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  If you look down on the bottom there, the last section is called "Critical issues" and there's a list of components of that: standardization, downtown contingency, WPF, worst performing feeder, which we discussed; smart grid operations, station system enhancements, secondary upgrades, energy storage.

And they add up to, in 2011, 95 million.

Now, are those some of the projects that are included in your 2012 and 2013 numbers?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. BRETT:  And which ones of those would be part of your 2013 -- 2012, rather, or 2013 numbers?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SADEGHI:  If I may refer you to tab 4, schedule C-1, page 8 of 9?

MR. BRETT:  Yes.

MR. SADEGHI:  So in terms of the elements that are included in the 2012 portfolio, we see under line 8 this includes direct buried cable replacement, overhead rebuilds and external plant locations.

So those are the elements in the 2012 emerging portfolio.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  And are they the same elements that are in the 2013?

MR. SADEGHI:  I am going to refer you to line 21 on the same page.

MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. SADEGHI:  So 2013 consists of capital programs that are anticipated to require attention, and based on issues requiring short-term intervention that have surfaced in the past, we anticipate that the emerging projects for 2013 will be related to reliability, safety, external plant relocation requests, XLPE cabling duct and URD system, egress cable civil infrastructure and/or cable chambers.

So those are the elements that we expect to see in 2013.

MR. BRETT:  So those elements in 2013 are described a bit differently, but is it fair to say they're quite similar to the elements in 2012, for the most part?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yeah, for the most part.  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  And then neither the 2012 or the 2013, what you're telling me, I think, has -- is the same as the 2011 -- what you called critical issues here in 2011.

They're very different from those?

MR. SADEGHI:  That is correct, yes.

MR. BRETT:  And does that mean that the items that you've listed in 2011 that I read out to you, none of those really are -- those have disappeared off the map, so to speak?  They're not in the program for 2012 or 2013, aside from the WPF?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SADEGHI:  So to a great degree, yes, a lot of them have disappeared.  And as you mentioned earlier, the WPF program is still there.

MR. BRETT:  Are any of the others still there?

MR. SADEGHI:  Well, we do have an ICM business case for the secondary upgrades.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  And which number is that?  Do you recall?  Oh, that's all right.  That's fine.  I will find that.  I apologize for that question.

Okay.  Now, just going back to the pages you referred me to, page 8, you say -- and you read me the sentence starting on line 8:

"Emerging projects for 2012 consist of programs which include direct buried cable replacements, overhead rebuilds, external plant relocations."

And then that goes on.  The next sentence says:

"Emerging projects aim to address pressing issues that require intervention within a year but not immediate attention, in contrast with those that are part of the Reactive Capital portfolio which deals with failed assets and assets that require immediate attention."

So I think we all know what the reactive capital portfolio is.  But the emerging projects, the categories of them, direct buried cable replacements, overhead rebuilds, external plant relocations, those are all the subject of business cases, right?

Those are all -- those are also included in business cases which are part of the ICM program you are putting forward?

MR. SADEGHI:  There may be some -- what is important to note is that there is no specific job which is noted under the emerging which is also noted under the ICM business case.

MR. BRETT:  No.  I think I understand that.  I think that came out this morning, but the categories are the same.  The categories are -- of the three I just read are also categories of projects and segments within the ICM program, right?

MR. SADEGHI:  There's some overlap, that's correct.

MR. BRETT:  There is almost total -- well, with respect to those three items in 2012, it looks like each of those three is also the subject of a business case, as a category, right?

Buried cables, direct buried cables, overhead rebuilds and external plant relocations?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  So I mean, this is -- essentially, then, what we've got in those areas is just you've got sort of two streams of projects.

You've got the stream that you provided a business case for, but you've got a number of other jobs -- sorry, two streams of jobs.

You've got another stream of jobs that fall into these three categories we discussed, direct buried cable, overhead rebuilds and external plant, which are not the subject of a business case, but they are nonetheless -- they have the same status.  They're going to be done in 2012 and 2013.

So in that sense, it is more of the same, right?  It just doesn't go into the business case?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. SADEGHI:  That is correct.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. SADEGHI:  What's important to note --


MR. BRETT:  I guess the question is why do you -- sorry?

MR. SADEGHI:  What is important to note is that from our perspective there is no difference between a job which is under the materiality threshold or a job that is above the materiality threshold.  They're all non-discretionary and urgent, from our perspective.

MR. BRETT:  Well, I understand that, but why aren't they all part of the business case?

MR. SADEGHI:  Well, with respect to the emerging portfolio, as the name implies, it relates to jobs that emerge.

MR. BRETT:  In the next year?

MR. SADEGHI:  Well, not necessarily.  They could be -- we could have jobs that just come up and require short-term intervention.  I will give you an example.

We have one scoped to replace the leaking station roof at George and Duke MS.  This is a job that has emerged and requires short-term intervention, so therefore this is funded under the emerging portfolio.

MR. BRETT:  So is this a case where the roof has collapsed and needs immediate repair?

MR. SADEGHI:  No.  If the roof was collapsed, it would be reactive.  In this case it hasn't collapsed.

MR. BRETT:  All right.

MR. SADEGHI:  But it would be imprudent for us to leave it unattended.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  It says that you would have to intervene within a year.  Is that what we're saying?

MR. SADEGHI:  Typically, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, I won't go back over the ground that Mr. Faye covered this morning.  I think I want to move on, and I thank you for that.

I want to move into a brief discussion of priorities.  And you have discussed this a little bit, but it is obviously an important question, and I want to ask a few questions about it that are a little different than the questions that have been asked so far, I think.

Now, first of all, we talked recently about executability, and this is not quite a priority issue, but it is linked.

Now, you mentioned a couple of times -- Mr. Parker, is it?

MR. WALKER:  Walker.

MR. BRETT:  Walker, sorry.  My apologies.  You mentioned a couple of times in the last two hours that when you were asked about whether the company had the capability to do 500-and -- I think it is -- 79 million dollars' worth of capital work in 2013, you said, Well, we've done things like this in the past.

Now, my reading of your past is that the largest single build or spend that you did was $434 million in 2011.  Are we agreed on that?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  You settled at 378, but you actually spent 434.

So that is not the same as 579; right?  That is 100-and-some million dollars less?

MR. WALKER:  That's true.

MR. BRETT:  Now, when you look at the issue of priorities -- and I am going to ask you, just for a simple guide to this discussion, if you could turn up the addendum.  You have looked at this before, but turn up the addendum to your evidence at table -- sorry, at page 14.  We will use that table.

MR. WALKER:  Okay, I have it.

MR. BRETT:  I want to deal briefly with the project level, the segment level, and then the jobs level.

At the project level you have ten projects listed here, I believe.  And what you have said, as I understand you, is, We don't -- we don't and we can't prioritize among those ten projects, which says to me that in each of those ten project areas you have at least some work which is very critical that you need to do.

And so if you were to say, Well, you know, the project should be ranked in this order, that would leave open the possibility that someone would say, Let's just knock off the bottom two.  And the Board might say, Why don't we take off the bottom two, and that wouldn't be acceptable to you, because there are items in each of these projects that are, let's put it this way, equally important one versus another.

MR. WALKER:  That's fair, yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, just following along that logic, if you were faced with sort of two possibilities here, one would be that the Board would say to you, Well, you've got a well-developed plan here, but it is too
much -- it's too expensive, so we would like you to reduce it by $100 million.

And a second possibility would be that the Board would say, Well, we would like you to eliminate projects 1, 3 and 5, because we don't think they're as important as the other projects.

I take it that your preference would be the former.  I mean, I understand you would prefer everything accepted as it is, but if I put up those two possibilities, the logic that I see in this is you would say, No, no, no, we want to decide what to spend it on; fair?

[Witness Panel confers]

MR. WALKER:  It's really the Board's prerogative how they might approach that, but --


MR. BRETT:  Right.

MR. WALKER:  -- our perspective is that all of this work is a priority and we would like to be able to do it all.

MR. BRETT:  I understand that, but if you -- but if you couldn't do it all, if the choice were as I put to you a moment ago, I take it that your preference would be that you would retain the flexibility to do something in each -- or let's put it another way -- do most of what you were going to do in each of the ten projects?

In other words, you're not going to eliminate a project on your own in circumstances like that?

MR. WALKER:  We would not intend to eliminate a project, no.

But I think it is simplistic to presume that we would just hack off pieces of each one or something like that.  We'd have to go back, based on the amount of funding we have, and look at all of the factors associated with this to determine what we would carry forward with.

MR. BRETT:  Okay, fair enough.  And I notice, for example, that you have already -- well, let me move to segments now.

I look at the way that -- I am looking at page 14 here.  So I am looking at the way that you dealt with certain of these segments.

If we look at the segment dealing with paper-insulated lead-covered cable - piece outs and leakers, it is called - you had an original cost, in the left-hand column, for 2012 of 17.3. You cut that back by -- virtually you eliminated that in 2012, and you picked up only five of it in 2013.

Now, we're not talking about 2014 here, but I understand you're putting some -- putting it back in 2014.  Do I take it from that -- I mean, there's a situation where you cut severely a particular area.  Can I infer from that that that is a lesser priority than some of the other projects, some of the other segments?

MR. PARADIS:  If I may just clarify here, what is important to note for the paper-insulated lead-covered cable and piece-out and leaker segment, there are two -- I wouldn't call them distinct, but there are two key components of that segment, one of which is the proposed replacement of the PILC cable linking high-level to Bridgman stations, which in itself accounts for most of the costs in here.

And the modification and the proposed spending is mainly due to the fact that the execution, and therefore the spending on the high level to Bridgman project, has shifted in years due to design complications and delays in execution.

So it is not a reflection of the priority.  It is a reflection of the practical considerations associated with executing that work.

MR. BRETT:  The Bridgman project, Bridgman high road link, I understand is -- I am reading that to be the most -- in terms of your priorities of jobs, on the job level, that is the largest single project in this category.

I take it from the way you have described -- the way you have written the evidence, it is the first priority in that area as a job for a variety of reasons?

MR. PARADIS:  Again, I don't think we want to prioritize these jobs against one another, especially given the fact that they're somewhat different in nature, specifically from an execution standpoint.

It is a very high priority item which we are seeking to address as soon as possible.  We are in the process of designing the work and scheduling the execution of that work.

And the delay and the shift in spending that you see in this table is due to the execution realities associated with that work; whereas for the other component in that segment, which refers to discrete locations for repair of leaking cables, it is a much more manageable task to try to schedule, if you will.

So it's something that we can proceed with more readily compared to the larger project of the tie between two stations.

MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Now, going to the segment issue, talking about segments, there are about 22 segments here.

Now, I just want to deal very briefly with this, but I would say that you have -- am I right in saying you have the same position with respect to segments that you have with respect to projects, that they're all -- you don't want to -- they're all -- you're not prepared to assign priorities on a segment basis?

MR. WALKER:  That's correct.

MR. BRETT:  Now, it is different at the job level, as I understand it.

At the job level, when you get into the individual jobs, you do assign priorities.  You do assign priorities in the jobs, at least in some instances, and I just want to give you an example.

I mean, I realize that we have a panel coming up that knows the facts of these jobs in detail, so I am just using this not to discuss the jobs as such, but just to make the point that you have priorities among jobs.

And I'm looking at the first, the very first bucket here, underground infrastructure segment.  That is the first segment.  And that is B1, tab 4, B1, page 2.  You may want to have that in front of you or you may not.  I could just read you a sentence and --


MR. WALKER:  I would prefer to have it, if I could.

MR. BRETT:  I don't blame you.  I would too.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just while they're getting that out, Mr. Brett, I do note that you have intention to cross-examine almost every panel.  Actually, all of them.

To the extent that you do have numerous documents you're going to be drawing the witnesses' attention to, a compendium would be --


MR. BRETT:  A compendium?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, please.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Fine.  I'll do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Much of what I am using are basically pieces in the evidence or former Board decisions, but I will put together a compendium for the balance of what I have there, just to speed things along.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Appreciate it.

MR. WALKER:  Sorry, I have tab 4, schedule B1; is that the correct reference?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, that's right.

Now, if you look toward the bottom of that paragraph, table 1 below lists the proposed jobs in order of their -- of the number of unplanned, sustained outages experienced by the feeder in 2011.

Now, I am inferring from that that, let's say executability factors being equal, this is the priority list.  You would do these in the order in which they have generated trouble for you, which is for you and for customers, which is unplanned, sustained outages.  Those hurt people, and they hurt you and they hurt your reputation.  So -- and they hurt my customers, because people that have big, big computers don't want unplanned, sustained outages.

So I'm assuming that -- or my clients, I should say.  So I'm assuming that everything else equal, that's the order of priority in which you would do these jobs; is that fair?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.  We would use that, all other things being equal, to stage our work.

MR. BRETT:  Now, what might -- all right.  I understand there are certain circumstances -- and I don't want to get into a 10-minute talk on this, for obvious reasons -- but I understand there are certain circumstances where you can't just do that, because perhaps you want to do -- perhaps the city has told you to do something and you want to try and do this at the same time, or because you want to combine this with some other project you're doing, something that allows you to do a joint project of some sort more efficiently, that there will be exceptions, in other words.

MR. WALKER:  Yes.  I think the relative priority between these jobs, I would argue, is not tremendously significant.

You might look at it this way.  We have already identified, through the ICM process, that all of this work is work of priority.

I want to be careful that we don't lose sight of that.

MR. BRETT:  No, I understand.

MR. WALKER:  So this becomes one element that we use to plan our work, but we allow ourselves the latitude to change that, that sequence.  And we consider that to be acceptable, because we know that the next project is basically just as important.

MR. BRETT:  Right.  But I mean, just going to that for a moment, if you have a situation on the one hand which has, you know, double the sustained outage experience of another direct underground feeder, I don't think you
want -- you're telling me that you would depart from doing the worst one first, readily.

I mean, they aren't the same risk to people.

MR. WALKER:  We would try to do them in sequence, but because we consider them all to be of relatively similar priority, we allow ourselves to operationally change that order.  And we do it on a regular basis.

If there were a huge distinction, that distinction would likely be the difference between an emergency and something that we have time to plan for.

MR. BRETT:  It would likely be that, but would you agree with me that it could be a situation where you have had a series of outages with respect to one line, and you haven't had nearly the same number of outages with respect to -- sustained outages with respect to the other line, you're not talking in either case about repairing a break on an emergency basis; you're talking about which one of these do you choose to do first on a proactive basis?  You would do the first one first, typically?

MR. WALKER:  If there were no other considerations, yes.

MR. BRETT:  All right.  Now, if I may, just with respect to the number 6, I believe it is, which is your back line construction modification, rear lot construction project, B6.

Now, this is -- again, I don't want to get into a lot of detail here, but that is covered off between pages 39 and 63 in your -- in that particular module, which is B6, tab 4, B6.

This is where your -- it is called "Overhead infrastructure and equipment, rear lot construction segment."  And I am going to pretty much end up with this.

Now, in that --


MR. WALKER:  I'm sorry, can I just get the reference again?

MR. BRETT:  Sorry, it is tab 4, schedule B6.

MR. WALKER:  Okay.  Good.  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  And...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Page 39, I think you referenced, Mr. Brett.

MR. BRETT:  Sorry?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Are you taking him to page 39?

MR. BRETT:  Yes, page 39.  And actually the -- yes, page 39.  That lists all of the jobs, and you have a lot of, a number of jobs in this category.

Now, the first one here -- well, first of all, the first one here is Forest Hill, I notice.

Now, is that -- what is the criteria for -- in this particular segment, should I read anything into the fact that Forest Hill is number one?

MR. WALKER:  No.

MR. BRETT:  No?

MR. WALKER:  No.

MR. BRETT:  So what -- your criteria is -- your rank-ordering of these is done on what basis?  Is it the same as before, the same as number one, that -- the number of sustained outages that deal with this?

I -- Or is it something different?

MR. WALKER:  No.  It would all be based on execution, executability.  These are not in any particular order, other than --


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So these aren't the same as the first set, really?

These aren't the same as the underground, direct cable underground?  This is a different -- these are literally equal in terms of terms of their -- the ones you choose to do first, second, third and so on?

MR. WALKER:  Yes.

MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Thank you, panel.

Mr. Chair, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Brett.

Staff?  Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Good afternoon, panel.  I'm Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  Just a few questions, largely about the Feeder Investment Model, so I think those will be for you, Mr. Otal.

I heard you say this morning in your examination-in-chief, just to provide a tiny bit of background, that the Feeder Investment Model is a risk-based model designed to drive economically optimal -- pardon me, derive the economically optimal time to replace assets.

I wrote that down as you were saying it; is that about right?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And it compares the costs of potential asset failure versus the cost of replacement; have I got that right?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you have run this model for many, if not all, of the jobs that are part of this application?

There is also the CLO, as well, but you've done one of the other for many of the jobs in this application?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.  For the assets contained within the segments, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you.

Essentially what it provides -- what it boils down to is it provide a net present value calculation for the proposed job; is that right?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Rubenstein asked you about this, and I'm not quite sure I got the answer, so I am going to try and come back to it.

I want to get a sense from you as to what reliance Toronto Hydro is actually placing on the Feeder Investment Model.  Is this part of your discretionary versus non-discretionary analysis, or is it just sort of useful and interesting background information?  How does this feed into the test for whether or not an incremental capital module should be approved?

[Witness Panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  It would be part of that ICM eligibility criteria in terms of the prudence.

MR. MILLAR:  So it's part of the -- is there some sort of threshold you apply?  Again, I see how this is useful information.  I'm just -- does the FIM on its own lead to a go/no go decision for example?

MR. OTAL:  Well, it allows us to compare different options against each other.

So in the like-for-like replacement cases, we're really comparing:  What if we don't take any action and we wait until 2015 compared to doing the work now?

In the case of the not-in-kind business cases, we're really comparing different alternatives against each other and going ahead with the most beneficial alternative.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, that is helpful.  Thank you for that.

I would like to turn a bit to the nuts and bolts of the calculation itself.  It might be useful -- I know it is discussed in a number of places in the evidence, but I'm going to be making a few references to Board Staff Interrogatory 27, so perhaps we could have that pulled up.

And as I understand it, part of the model estimates the customer interruption costs; is that correct?  I'm sorry, I will give you a moment to pull that up.

MR. OTAL:  Sorry, so could you repeat that question?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.

Part of what the model does is it estimates the customer interruption costs; is that correct?

MR. OTAL:  It's determining what the impact is to those customers essentially using those customer interruption costs.

MR. MILLAR:  And that's the cost side of the equation?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the way you've done that in this model, I take it there is -- the customer interruption costs are equal to, you can see towards the bottom of the page, the event cost plus the duration cost.  Have I got that right?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the event cost that you use is $30 per what?

MR. OTAL:  $30 per kVA.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the event cost -- pardon me, that's the event cost.  So that would be $30 per kVA whenever there is an event, irrespective of the duration?

MR. OTAL:  That is right.

MR. MILLAR:  And I heard you say to Mr. Brett, I think it was, earlier that interruptions of a couple of seconds are not counted.  Is there a threshold where this kicks in?

MR. OTAL:  Sorry, actually, I wanted to take the opportunity to correct the record there.

So going back to that particular question, it is true that if you do have a momentary interruption, there will be an event cost considered, but no duration cost.

MR. MILLAR:  I see, okay.  So you would still have the $30 per kVA?

MR. OTAL:  You would still have an event taking place to account for that initial disruption to the customer.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that makes sense.  Thank you very much.

Then when we look at the duration cost, again, I know this is detailed in the evidence, so I don't want to go through it in great detail, but that is $15 per hour per kVA; is that correct?

MR. OTAL:  It is 15 dollars per kVA hour.

MR. MILLAR:  Per kVA hour, okay.  I'm sorry.

You add those together and that is your cost of -- your customer interruption cost; is that correct?

MR. OTAL:  That is the outage cost; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And in Toronto Hydro's -- first, just let me back up a second.  Where did you get the $30 and $15?

MR. OTAL:  So we answered this question as part of the technical conference.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. OTAL:  Essentially, we went through a process working with our consultants and really looking through a series of studies to first try to understand what's happening when an outage is taking place.  And so that's really where we established the two stages of the interruption, the event and the duration.

We determined that, you know, you would expect to see a higher cost in that event versus the duration, and then we continued to look at a series of evaluation studies in order to determine our costs to be within the range of those studies.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think if you turn to page 4 of this interrogatory, there is a chart showing some of the things you looked at; is that correct?

MR. OTAL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You have Toronto Hydro in red there as B, and then it compares against, I guess, a number of comparators that you selected?

MR. OTAL:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And the first one is for the Netherlands.  I take it you have specific data on how they did it in the Netherlands?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.  We would have that report, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then the other ones, I wasn't quite sure.  Maybe you could help me what they mean.

If I look at C, for example, it says:  The use of customer outage cost surveys in policy decision-making.

Is that a document or series of documents?  What...

MR. OTAL:  It was just a study.  It is just a title of that particular study.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that would hold true of D, E and F, as well?

MR. OTAL:  That's correct.  Sorry, correct.  Yes, those are just the titles of those particular studies.

MR. MILLAR:  And we see a variety of costs being used for them.  At least on this chart, Toronto Hydro comes out relatively favourably as the second-lowest cost; is that right?

MR. OTAL:  It is within the range.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, that is fair.  How many feeders does Toronto Hydro have, approximately?  I understand it is about 1,600?

MR. OTAL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And depending upon any particular feeder, you would have a variety of customer types that might be attached to any feeder; is that fair?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You would have residential, commercial, industrial.  Some would be all residential.  Some would be a mixture of a bunch of things.  Is that fair?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And for all of your 1,600 feeders, you would know which customers and which customer classes are attached to each of those feeders?  That's data Toronto Hydro has?

MR. OTAL:  We have information within our customer databases, but that information isn't tied to our GIS platform specifically at the customer class level where we are performing the FIM analysis.

MR. MILLAR:  And I recognize it's not taken into account in your FIM analysis, but Toronto Hydro has access to that data; is that fair?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And you would agree with me that different types of customers would incur different costs associated with an outage; is that fair?

MR. OTAL:  Different customers would have different impacts associated with those outages, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Different customer classes, as well, as a general matter?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You would agree with me, for example, that for residential customers an outage is perhaps more of an inconvenience than an actual cost to them?

MR. OTAL:  Well, I think it is -- the line is really blurring there, because it really depends on what those customers are doing at home.

You've got more customers doing commercial activities from home.  They're starting their small businesses from home.  They're doing their work from home.

So, really, it's becoming more and more difficult to really assess what are the types of activities that they're performing, whether those activities are commercial in nature or residential in nature.  I would say those lines are becoming more and more blurred.

MR. MILLAR:  Putting a number on it may be becoming more difficult, but you would agree with me that generally the cost to a residential consumer would be less than to an industrial or a commercial consumer for an outage?

MR. OTAL:  Well, if we look at the load, in particular, between a residential and a commercial, there is definitely going to be a difference in terms of your overall outage cost.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, load is already accounted for in the model; correct?

MR. OTAL:  That is right.

MR. MILLAR:  But it is more than just load; right?  I know some people run home businesses, but for many residential customers you break out the Yahtzee and light a few candles.  You're not out of pocket any money when there is a power outage; whereas for a commercial operation, you are much more likely to incur out-of-pocket -- you would have to shut down the business, for example?

[Witness Panel confers]

MR. OTAL:  Yeah, sure.  So, yes, we could recognize definitely that there would be different actions to those customers or different actions those customers would have to take when the outage takes place.

MR. MILLAR:  And that there would be different costs on different types of customer classes?

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think you accepted as much in the technical conference, but you can confirm for me that the model does not take this into account?  It is $15 and $30, irrespective of which feeder is impacted or which customer classes are impacted; is that correct?

MR. OTAL:  That's right.  We apply a consistent approach to all customers within our system.

MR. MILLAR:  The model assumes everyone's costs are the same?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You haven't done any -- perhaps I should have asked this earlier, but when you compared yourself against -- you say you got to the $15 and the $30 by looking at some comparable studies and whatnot?

I may be phrasing that inelegantly.  You didn't do any of your own Toronto Hydro-specific surveys or anything of that nature to come to the $15 and the $30?

MR. OTAL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you would agree with me -- or maybe I shouldn't say this.  Would you agree with me that your model would be materially improved if you took into account the -- which customers were on which feeders, and if you had better data on the cost per customer class?

MR. OTAL:  Absolutely.  As we further improve our data, as we further improve the inputs within to our model, and with those improvements, we would expect to see better refinements within our business case evaluation processes.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you doing that now?  Are you adding this type of data into your model?

MR. OTAL:  Well, we're continuously improving upon our data.

So we do have the paths in place to start looking at how do we get that information into our GIS platform.

So generally, we've always been continuously approving this approach, as we are all of our engineering tools.  So absolutely, we are always looking at continuous improvement.  And yes, we have been looking at ways of how do we want to bring the customer level data into our analyses.  Yes.

MR. PARADIS:  Now, one thing that might be important to note, it is difficult, again, to assess whether or not that would have a material impact until we go through that process.

Intuitively, it is potentially compelling to go there, but until we get the data into our GIS and go through the exercise, it will be difficult to evaluate, you know, what level of materiality that might have.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know -- I hesitate to ask this question because I don't know the answer, but do you happen to know, in the other surveys you looked at on the page here, do you know if they broke it out by customer class?  Do you happen to know that?

MR. OTAL:  I'm not sure.  I think some surveys broke it off by customer class.  Others, it was -- it was just an overall cost.  I wouldn't know exactly.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to turn to Staff IR 28, which would be the next one?

I'm looking in particular at page 4 of that interrogatory response.  This is a table entitled, "Avoided risk costs, results by job."

You will see in the various columns, you list through all of the job feeder names.  I take it these are feeders that are going to be replaced or improved as part of Toronto Hydro's proposal?  Have I got that right?

MR. OTAL:  Sorry, just to confirm, you are at OEB IR 28, table 1?

MR. MILLAR:  Table 1, that's right.  It is on page 4.

MR. OTAL:  Yes.  And, sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  If you look at the top, it says "Job feeder name," and then just take, for example, the first one.  It lists one of them, and then I take it if you scoot all the way over to the end, it says the "three-year avoided risk cost."  That would be the results of running the FIM for this particular feeder; is that correct?

MR. OTAL:  For that particular job.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, that job.

MR. OTAL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is --


MR. OTAL:  So really, it's the assets contained within that job.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that clarification.

I am going to ask you to take an undertaking.  It perhaps won't surprise you that Staff and perhaps some other intervenors would like a bit of sensitivity analysis conducted on the costs that you used, the $15 and $30, on the assumption that some of the jobs may serve largely residential feeders and therefore it is possible the actual customer interruption costs are lower.

That's just to provide the background.

So I'm wondering if just -- I will take as an example this first job that you have, NY80M29.  Could you run the same FIM -- could you run that through the model, however changing the assumptions, changing the $30 and $15 to 10 percent of that, and then also 20 percent of that?  Is that something you could do with relative ease?

For example, changing the $30 and $15 to $3 and $1.50, and then $6.00 and $3.  Is that something that could be done?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. OTAL:  Well, there is a couple of things I would say.

You know, we could certainly do the analysis, but at the same time I wonder what the relevance would be when we start reducing that customer interruption cost down to those types of levels.

You know, we did do an analysis.  We did, you know, look at other studies and find that our costs on an overall whole, accounting for all customer classes, are within range.

And we did do a sensitivity analysis, actually, in these interrogatories, to reduce those CICs by 30 percent, and almost all of these business cases still came up as directionally aligned to what they were before.

MR. MILLAR:  You may well be right, that it comes down to a matter of argument and whether 10 percent or 20 percent, Toronto Hydro may argue that those are not helpful numbers in the end.

I did hear the company concede that very likely, if not certainly, the costs for residential customer interruptions would be lower than for industrial, and that they're all treated as like for the purposes of your model.

So let me break it into two.

First of all, is that a difficult thing for you to do, just for the single -- take any one at random that you would like.  I just picked the first one.  Could you do that with a minimum of effort?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MILLAR:  Changing those two input assumptions?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. OTAL:  Yes, we could do that type of an analysis, but again, I would stress on the fact that, you know, we could reduce these costs to zero and obviously you would get a different result.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I could do that calculation.

MR. OTAL:  And you know, I would also stress the fact that, again, these results are only representative of one component as part of all of the elements that were presented.

MR. MILLAR:  I agree with that, as well.

Mr. Chair, I am in your hands on this one.  We think it would be useful information to have.

If Toronto wishes to put caveats around that -- and doubtless, if it comes to argument, they would tell us all of reasons that they think those numbers are inappropriate -- it seems to me that is a relatively easy thing to do and Staff would like to have that done.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And I think that, unless we're hearing that there are issues and barriers that are oriented to the task and not the outcome, we are interested in hearing those.

But I think that you provided some of the caveats.  Feel free to do that in your undertaking response, as well, what we would expect the undertaking to be.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Yes.  I agree with that.

Mr. Millar was asking whether it would be difficult to do, and I am not sure that Mr. Otal actually addressed that part of it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  No.  And I would be interested in it if it were task-oriented as opposed to outcome-oriented.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  As opposed to the caveats that would be put on the answer, I think the question was:  Is it a difficult thing to do?

MR. OTAL:  No, it wouldn't be difficult.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So thank you for that.  That will be Undertaking J1.5.  And just so it is clear for the record, it is to -- for table 1 on Board Staff 28, to rerun the numbers for job number one using $3 and $1.50, and then again, $6 and $3 as the input assumptions.

Is that clear?  Okay.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  FOR TABLE 1 ON BOARD STAFF IR NO. 28, to RERUN THE NUMBERS FOR JOB NUMBER ONE USING $3 AND $1.50 AND THEN $6 AND $3 AS THE INPUT ASSUMPTIONS.

MR. CASS:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I am very nearly finished, if I could just have one more moment.

I do have some questions on discretionary versus non-discretionary for particular jobs and segments.  I take it that is for panel 1B; is that correct?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. WALKER:  I believe that is 2B.

MR. MILLAR:  2B?  It is not for you, though?

MR. WALKER:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

One final, just a cleanup matter.  Board Staff -- this is really just a housekeeping matter, I think -- Board Staff Interrogatory No. 62, and page 5 of that interrogatory.

You will see this really is a housekeeping matter, so you may be able to just look at it on the screen.  It asks, "Please provide copies of", and then the third bullet point is:
"THESL's IESO approved proposal to complete full meter upgrades at all applicable delivery points by 2021."

Do you see that?  Then if we look at the response to that on the next page, lines 9 and 10, you say refer to appendix A of a certain schedule.  Do you see that?
Witnesses, do you see that?

MR. SADEGHI:  Yes.

MR. WALKER:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That apparently was the wrong reference, because we went and looked at that and that wasn't right.

You pointed us in the technical conference to a different reference, which I believe was appendix D, although I don't have that in front of me.

The point is that doesn't appear to be the study either.  So what I would ask by way of undertaking is if you could file with us what we asked for in bullet point 3 on page 5 of Board Staff Interrogatory No. 62.  I am seeing heads nodded, so I will take that as a yes.

MR. WALKER:  Yes, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO PROVIDE REFERENCE IN BULLET POINT 3 ON PAGE 5 OF BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORY No. 62.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, panel.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  The Board Panel doesn't have any questions.  Mr. Cass, I wonder if you have any re-direct?
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  I had some re-direct, Mr. Chair, and with subsequent examinations, it's been whittled down to something I can probably do in one question.

During many of the examinations, starting with Mr. Rubenstein and following through, there have been questions both about the development of the capital program and the deliverability of the capital program right through to Mr. Brett's questions when he was comparing your proposed 2013 program to 2011.

I wonder if the panel, I'm not sure which witness, could take that in two pieces, development and deliverability, and please tell the Board why the panel believes that the Board should have confidence, first, in the development of the program, and the deliverability of the program.

MR. PARADIS:  So going back to the development phase, as we mentioned previously, what we did earlier this year is we went back to our asset base, leveraging the tools that we have and the information we have about the system, identifying areas of need in terms of maintaining existing reliability and overall system safety.

We then reviewed the ICM criteria, made sure that we understood that fully, and that in light of that understanding, we've endeavoured to create segments, and then jobs, for consideration and for inclusion in our ICM submission.  So that would at a high level address the development phase, if you will.

MR. WALKER:  And in terms of the deliverability, if you look back to THESL's capital program a handful of years ago - I don't know, six or seven, maybe - our capital program was at about $40 million, and in 2011 we delivered 400-and-something million dollars.  I can't remember the exact number.  So we were able to ramp up to that quite effectively.

2012 was a bit of an anomaly, obviously, given what transpired, and it did give us some challenges in ramping up, but we have ramped up significantly, especially in the last quarter of the year, and a significant portion of our 2012 spend has been achieved in the last quarter of the year.

So given enough time, we have demonstrated that we can ramp up to just about any spend level.  It really comes down to having enough certainty in our -- especially in our contractor and manufacturing communities, that the work will be there, that they're willing to invest in it and they will come.  And we have demonstrated that we can do that.  So this is my -- you know, this is my role, my job, and I am quite confident that we can achieve that.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Thank you very much, panel.  I know, Mr. Paradis, you will be running tomorrow, I believe, so we will see you again, then.  Thank you to the rest of the panel.

Mr. Cass, can I ask about availability of the subsequent panels?  We're moving along here and I am looking at the time estimates.  Do we have both panels available for next -- the subsequent panels both available today?

MR. CASS:  They are both here.  We can get the next panel up very promptly.  The one after that I would just need to spend a few minutes with at the break.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we take our break now and we will break until 3:30, and I just wanted to make sure that after the break we had the ability to go right through.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:08 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.
THESL - PANEL 1B, CAPITAL PLANNING PROCESSES B

Paul Nardozzi, Sworn


Charlie Floriano, Sworn


Owen Nash, Sworn


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Quesnelle, while we're getting settled, I apologize for the delay.

We were delayed because we were going through the time estimates for panel 1B again.  And unless I am mistaken, there is actually no cross-examination now for panel 1B, who have gone to the trouble of taking their seats, but unless someone can raise their hand now and tell us they have something for 1B, I think they may be done before they begin.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Questions?

I have polled up here as well, Mr. Millar, and...

No?  Okay.  Well, if there are no questions for the panel, thank you very much for being available.

[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  I appreciate that.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand from the company that the next panel is ready, though I am not sure if they need a moment to...

MR. QUESNELLE:  Were you able to avail yourself at the break, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I did, Mr. Chair.  I just rushed back from speaking with them.  I hope they followed me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Just so you know, Mr. Cass, I wasn't working on any inside information when I asked if you had this panel available.

[Laughter]


MR. CASS:  Perhaps I will introduce the panel so that they can come forward to be sworn.

Furthest from me is Erik Sonju, who is vice president power delivery, planning and design with Power System Engineering.

Beside him is Steven Fenrick, also from Power System Engineering.  Mr. Fenrick is leader, economics and market research.

Finally, we have Eugene Shlatz from Navigant Consulting Inc., and Mr. Shlatz is a director at Navigant.

If you could come forward to be sworn or affirmed, please?
THESL - PANEL 2A, EXTERNAL CONSULTANTS


Eugene L. Shlatz, Sworn


Stephen Fenrick, Sworn


Erik Sonju, Sworn


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass?
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.

We have three expert witnesses on this panel.  I propose some brief questions to qualify them as experts, to the extent that there are any comments on that.  Of course I could go into further detail, but at least initially I propose just some very brief questions to qualify the witnesses.

Starting with you, Mr. Shlatz, if I may, I understand that you have a B.S. and an M.S. in electric power engineering; is that correct?

MR. SHLATZ:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  And you are a professional engineer in the State of Vermont?

MR. SHLATZ:  I am.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shlatz, yes, the green light indicates that your mic is on.

MR. SHLATZ:  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And your work career is set out in your CV, but it includes experience at Boston Edison, Westinghouse Electric, Green Mountain Power Corporation, Stone & Webster, among other organizations; is that right?

MR. SHLATZ:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  And you have been with Navigant Consulting since 1999, and you are a director with Navigant?

MR. SHLATZ:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  And also you've been section chairman of the Institute of Electrical and Electronic Engineers; is that right?

MR. SHLATZ:  That's accurate.

MR. CASS:  You published numerous articles on subjects such as electricity reliability and asset management, also as set out in your CV?

MR. SHLATZ:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  You have been accepted as an expert witness before the FERC and a number of state regulatory commissions; is that correct?

MR. SHLATZ:  That is accurate.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I propose that Mr. Shlatz be accepted as an expert in electric power delivery systems, as set out in his CV.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Cass, would you like to present all three of the witnesses, and then we will canvass the intervenors?

MR. CASS:  Certainly, yes.  Thank you, sir.

I'll move to Mr. Fenrick.

Mr. Fenrick, you have, I understand, a BS in economics and an MS in agriculture and applied economics; is that right?

MR. FENRICK:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  And you have been a senior -- you were a senior economist, my apologies, with the Pacific Economics Group from 2001 to 2009; is that right?

MR. FENRICK:  That's right.

MR. CASS:  You joined Power System Engineering in 2009 and are currently leader, economics and market research group of PSE?

MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  You have developed a reliability benchmarking model for power distribution; is that right?

MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  You have done benchmarking work for numerous clients, as set out in your CV, not only in the United States and Canada, but in other countries, as well?

MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  You have been the author or co-author of numerous papers and publications, also as set out in your CV; is that right?

MR. FENRICK:  That's right.

MR. CASS:  These include articles for peer-reviewed academic journals?

MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.

MR. CASS:  And you have been accepted as an expert witness in proceedings in the United States?

MR. FENRICK:  I have.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  And again, subject to going through all witnesses, Mr. Chair, I put Mr. Fenrick forward as an expert in evaluating and benchmarking cost and reliability for utilities.

Mr. Sonju, turning to you, you have a BS in electrical engineering with emphasis in power systems; is that right?

MR. SONJU:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  You are a licensed professional engineer in -- I think it is 15 states; is that right?

MR. SONJU:  16.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you.

And your career includes work at organizations such as United Services Group, Heartland Engineering Services and Great Lakes Energy; is that right?

MR. SONJU:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  You joined Power System Engineering in 2008, and you are now vice president, power delivery, planning and design; is that right?

MR. SONJU:  I joined Power System Engineering in 2006.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  Thank you for correcting me.

And you have been an instructor for professional development courses in areas such as power delivery planning; is that right?

MR. SONJU:  That is correct.

MR. CASS:  You have also been accepted as an expert witness in proceedings in the United States?

MR. SONJU:  Correct.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.

Mr. Chair, I put Mr. Sonju forward as an expert in electricity transmission and distribution capital investment planning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.

Any intervenors care to make submissions on this point?  Mr. Rubenstein?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am in the Board's hands, and to -- for advice about -- or when it would be appropriate to raise these concerns.

I provide no aspersions about Mr. Shlatz specifically, but my questions would be about Navigant's specific involvement in this proceeding, the organization he represents.  And I have a number of -- couple of questions about sort of the scope of Navigant's involvement in this proceeding, and I wonder if it is the Board's view that should be addressed now, or...

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that would be appropriate, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Shlatz, my question is with respect to Navigant.

And I was wondering if you can provide for the Panel what the involvement of Navigant has been, not just with respect to the review of the business cases that you have provided in the evidence, but more generally with respect to this proceeding and advice to Toronto Hydro with respect to this application.

MR. SHLATZ:  I can speak for my own involvement.

To the best of my knowledge, our involvement has been with respect to supporting the business cases and specific projects.

And Mr. Williams is testifying more generally in the areas of rates and revenue impacts.

Beyond that, I am not aware of any other involvement, other than our testimony and the documents we have prepared.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are you aware with respect to Mr. Williams if he has provided strategic or regulatory advice to Toronto Hydro in this application?

MR. SHLATZ:  Mr. Williams will be testifying on another panel.  I would urge you to ask Mr. Williams directly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand, but my only thing is it goes towards Navigant's independence, specifically.

MR. SHLATZ:  I haven't reviewed his documents or work that may or may not have been conducted by other Navigant consultants; only my own.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am in the Board's hands.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, Mr. Rubenstein, I recognize that, but perhaps, Mr. Cass, would you like to -- is that
-- at this point, Mr. Rubenstein.

Mr. Cass, Mr. Rubenstein is raising an issue of the independence of Navigant, the employer of the expert witness you are putting forward.  Do you have a response to that?

MR. CASS:  I suppose I might say a few things, Mr. Chair.

It doesn't sound like this goes to the expertise, which is the immediate issue.  It doesn't sound like there is an issue about Mr. Schlatz being accepted as an expert witness.

To the extent that there is an issue about independence, it strikes me that Mr. Rubenstein can ask his questions of Mr. Williams and it can be a matter of argument, at the end of the case, whether there's been any legitimate issue raised about independence.

It doesn't sound like Mr. Schlatz can add too much to that. So I would think, to the extent that Mr. Rubenstein wants to ask further questions, he can do that, of Mr. Williams, and then it would be a matter for argument at the end of the case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fine with me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

Any other submissions on the presentation and the acceptance of these witnesses as expert witnesses?  Okay, hearing none, and understanding that there may be further questions that will go to the independence issue on the expertise question itself, Mr. Cass, this Panel of the Board accepts the three witnesses as experts in their fields as described.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Just some questions in examination in-chief, then, Mr. Chair, if I may.

I will start with Mr. Schlatz, and you actually I think answered my first question in response to Mr. Rubenstein's questions, but perhaps you could just confirm what your area of evidence is for this case.

MR. SCHLATZ:  My evidence is with regard to specific business cases, approximately 11 of those, ranging from the Bremner substation to various substation upgrades, safety upgrades, plant relocations, polymer -- replacement polymer fuses and SCADA-Mate switches, underground infrastructures and handwell replacements, and station control and communication systems, and Hydro One contributions.

MR. CASS:  Okay, thank you.  And is that evidence, including answers to undertakings -- interrogatories that you may have been involved in, and any evidence at the technical conference, accurate to the best your knowledge or belief?

MR. SCHLATZ:  Yes, they are.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. SCHLATZ:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Can you give the Board a brief overview of the key points of your evidence, please?

MR. SCHLATZ:  Yes.  The primary objective of our high-level review and support of specific business cases was premised on a review that entailed as to whether or not the projects were justified based on the business cases that were prepared by Toronto Hydro.

And based on our review, we found the level of rigour, the methods applied and the tools applied were indeed consistent or superior to those conducted by similar urban utilities.

We found that for each of the projects, each of them were needed based on reliability, system and performance requirements, and, indeed, the safety performance and reliability would degrade if these projects were not allowed to proceed.

We found, also, through surveys and from my own expertise, that the basic design practices, material selected and overall construction and design associated with the proposed project is consistent with those employed by other urban utilities in North America.

So based on those review and those conclusions, we support and conclude that the projects that company has proposed, at least those that I am supporting, are needed.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Fenrick, if I could turn to you on behalf of PSE, you can probably predict these questions already, but could you please tell the Board your -- PSE's area of evidence for this particular panel?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes.  PSE's -- our role in this was basically to look at, from a high level, those ten business cases that were primarily rooted in reliability concerns.

So from a high level, we evaluated those ten business cases, which are found in page 2 of our report.  Our findings from those -- from that evaluation was essentially that THESL really is conducting a ground-breaking approach to looking at reliability-driven projects, that these projects are needed, and THESL is offering a significant amount of justification for these projects due to the fact they really are incorporating the customer interruption costs into the planning process.

From our view and our experience in the industry, this really is best practice that we found, and we really do endorse the method and strategy that THESL is using in these.

We find also that deferral -- or if the funding is not provided and these projects do not go forth, that there will be a degradation in reliability if these projects are not funded.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Fenrick.

On behalf of PSE, can you confirm that the evidence to which you have referred, including answers to interrogatories and technical conference evidence, is accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  And do you adopt that as PSE's evidence in this proceeding?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Do we have -- Mr. Rubenstein, are you prepared to initiate your cross?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think Mr. Faye was going to precede me.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry.  If there is a -- Mr. Faye.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:


MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Schlatz, I have a number of questions, but after you described the evidence that you are supporting, I'm wondering whether you are familiar with the document that I wanted to question on, and that is the design -- Distribution Design standards Independent Survey and Review.  That is not the individual business cases in the ICM module that you mentioned, but I wonder, are you able to answer questions on this one, as well?

MR. SCHLATZ:  I believe I can.  I referred to the survey instrument in my synopsis.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, great.  We have included the entire report in our compendium, and I think that that's been distributed.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Faye, where would we find -- oh.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we have copies now, Ms. Spoel.  It is Exhibit K1.3, the Energy Probe compendium for panel 2A.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  ENERGY PROBE cross-examination COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 2A

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  And, Mr. Schlatz, this basically consists of your report.

MR. SCHLATZ:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  So I am just going to go with the page numbers that are on Navigant's submission.  So they haven't been renumbered as compendium page, but if I refer to page 10, that is page 10 of Navigant's report.

And we also have a few questions for PSE, and those are designated in the compendium as PSE1 and PSE2.

So starting with page 9 of your report, Mr. Schlatz, at the top of page 9 I see the statement:
"Where ties exist, most utilities reserve up to one-third of feeder capacity for back-up."

How should I understand the feeder capacity?  Would that be the normal operating capacity, the feeder, or the capacity where they put two feeders on, for instance?

MR. SCHLATZ:  It could be either.  The feeder capacity represents either the normal or emergency rating, depending on the company's criterion for loading their feeders.

Typically, it will consist of more than one feeder, so you mentioned two, which could quite be possible.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if I take an example, a lot of utilities in the GTA run 27.6 kV systems, and they would ordinarily load a feeder to 300 amps, 15 MVA.

Is this to mean that one-third of that 15 MVA is reserved, or is it one-third of 30 MVA which the feeder is capable of handling in unusual operating conditions?

MR. SCHLATZ:  Common practice is typically they reserve one-third of the 15 or 5 MVA under the assumption there are three feeders that provide backup capability.

MR. FAYE:  Thanks for that.

The next question is just the next sentence, and it says:
"Most utilities include emergency ratings when establishing feeder tie capacity limits; whereas one utility does not apply emergency ratings in its planning criteria."


Then the next sentence was unclear to me:
"This practice is comparable to the design criterion THESL applies..."


Which practice?  The one of including emergency ratings, or the one utility that does not apply emergency ratings?  Which one does THESL fall into?

MR. SCHLATZ:  My recollection on this - and I would also refer you to Toronto Hydro witnesses, as well, who could probably speak more specifically with regard to their emergency planning criteria -- the intent here was that emergency ratings do apply for some of their distribution facilities.  And I caution with the word "some," because it is also dependent on a series of factors, including the rating of things such as exit feeders, which are typically underground cables, and depending on the configuration of a number of those cables, there may or may not be available spare emergency capacity in that rating process.  So just a word of caution.

MR. FAYE:  It sounds like THESL falls into both baskets?  Some of them, they do have emergency ratings; some, they're not able to have an emergency rating on?

MR. SHLATZ:  Yes.  I would ask you to speak to a TH witness to confirm.

MR. FAYE:  I will do that.

The next bullet point down talks about Hendrix or tree wire -- no, I want to back up a few words.

Bundled conductor, spacer cable, that is not used a lot.  You see it a lot in the States, but maybe not so much in Ontario.  I wonder if you could just briefly describe it so the Panel understands it.

MR. SHLATZ:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear the last part of your question.

MR. FAYE:  Just briefly describe what spacer cable consists of.

MR. SHLATZ:  Spacer cable is overhead wire that has insulation to protect it from tree-related incidences, mostly.  So it has better insulating capability than open wire construction.

However, it does not have the same insulating properties as underground cable, but it is designed to be less susceptible to tree-related interruptions.

MR. FAYE:  And the term "bundled," does that refer to it can be bundled much like you see the 500-kV bundles on towers in this province, for wires bundled together with a spacer in the middle?

MR. SHLATZ:  That is a reasonable analogy.  Basically, the conductors are bundled in the sense there is effectively a plastic template that holds all four -- three conductors and the neutral -- on a steel messenger wire.  It's more compact construction.  The wires can be closer because they are insulated, but it's basically to enable the utilities to be able to attach these wires to poles.

You keep the spacing relatively close.

MR. FAYE:  So it would allow you to put more circuits on a pole, as opposed to the standard framing that you see all over the city here?

MR. SHLATZ:  I would not accept that premise, no.

MR. FAYE:  No?  Because it's more compact, couldn't you get more of those compact bundles attached to a pole and therefore have more circuits?

MR. SHLATZ:  Not necessarily.  I've seen open wire construction where you may have four or five circuits on a pole.  I don't know if I have ever seen four or five sets of bundled conductor on a pole, so I am not sure I would agree with that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Next question refers to material at the bottom of page 9, and this is that THESL limits feeders on poles to two in congested areas.  This is really along the same lines as I just asked you.

Given that they restrict you to two, would spacer cable allow more than two, do you think?

MR. SHLATZ:  With the restricted pole height, I would say, in most cases, probably not.

This could be confirmed perhaps with one of the Toronto Hydro witnesses, but there still is minimum separation required between bundled conductor when they're constructed in a vertical fashion, meaning one above another.

I am not entirely sure on what the exact spacing requirements is, but if it is comparable to overhead construction, open wire, to me there would be no difference.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thanks for that.

Looking at page 11, this talks a little bit about submersible transformers and the fact that other utilities are seeking to minimize their use because of high maintenance costs and harsh operating environments.

What is the harsh operating environment that you are referring to there?

MR. SHLATZ:  Well, basically for moisture, water, contaminated water, to get into the manhole or underground chamber.

MR. FAYE:  And is that a cause of outage?

MR. SHLATZ:  It can be, if it gets severe enough.  Sometimes it is.

MR. FAYE:  Would you consider pad-mounted transformers to have the same kind of exposure?

MR. SHLATZ:  In most cases not.  They are simply not susceptible to the amount of water seepage that you will have in a vault.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Thank you.

On the bottom of page 11, there is reference to:

"No utility having an active program to proactively replace CSP transformers on an accelerated basis."

Some do it in the course of renewable projects.

And I am not terribly familiar with why THESL is proposing to do the CSP.  Do you understand them to be doing it in the course of renewal projects?  Or is it to be done as an ad hoc project of its own?

MR. SHLATZ:  That question would have to be directed to a Toronto Hydro witness.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Turning to page 12 on rear lot to front lot conversions, you note there that few companies are actively relocating overhead lines to front or roadside locations, and it's of course due to the cost.

And I wonder if your survey delved into the reason or the way in which they're coping with the perceived public safety and reliability risks of rear lot overhead.  Did your survey get into that kind of thing?

MR. SHLATZ:  No, that was not one of the questions.

MR. FAYE:  Did your survey get into utilities using insulated tree cable on such lines?  Or was that not part of it?

MR. SHLATZ:  I believe we asked generally if it is used, but we didn't cite a specific location or construction type.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  The fourth bullet point down, under "Specific findings":

"Where relocations are single-phase only, directional boring with flexible conduit is most often used."

And I note on page 3, I believe, one of the objectives of your report was to point out, in cases where Toronto Hydro's design standards did not seem to comply with those of most other utilities, to point out anything that you saw in their environment or design considerations that would justify them doing something different than most utilities did.

But I don't see any explanation of that here.  Did you have an opinion on that?

MR. SHLATZ:  Well, first, I disagree with the premise of your question.

We did not seek to assess compliance.  This was not a compliance survey; this was simply a survey to identify practices.

So there is not a compliance issue at issue here.

MR. FAYE:  Yes, I agree.  That word was poorly chosen.  I'm sorry.  I am just going to look at the exact text here.  It's at the bottom of page 3:

"Our report, presented herein, describes differences in design standards, including reasons why THESL's are justified due to unique characteristics of Toronto and THESL's system."

And that is what I was getting at.

MR. SHLATZ:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  I don't see that kind of discussion here under rear lot conversion to front lot underground.

Did you have any specific reasons why you felt that Toronto's practice was justifiable?

MR. SHLATZ:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Could you elaborate?

MR. SHLATZ:  Yes.  And based both on my own experience, as well as feedback we got in the surveys, the directional boring is preferred, but it is preferable only in areas where it is applicable.

And what I mean by that is if there are obstructions that will inhibit the use of directional boring, then it is simply not something that would be used.

Commonly, that is found in an urban area such as Toronto, where you may have other utilities, other physical barriers, that would obviate the need to or ability to use directional boring.

So the preference is for those where it is most applicable and cost-effective.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  That is good.  Thank you.

I think that is all of my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Schlatz.

I have a few questions for PSE.  If you could flip to the page entitled at the top "PSE1"?  Do you have that up?

In the middle of the page there, just after that "overall cost equals", there is a statement:
"THESL's approach to asset management is a ground-breaking one."

Can I understand that to mean that this is brand new?

MR. FENRICK:  In our experience, there's other utilities that have certainly been aware historically of the fact that customers experience economic costs when outages occur, but, in our experience, THESL is really taking this approach to new levels, you know, incorporating the probabilities of failure, as well as just using this as a tool to really inform the decision-making and capital project decision.

This really is -- it is a new and innovative method.

MR. FAYE:  So you haven't come across a method as -- how shall I characterize it -- as detailed and rigorous as this?

MR. FENRICK:  Yes.  I believe that would be accurate, that this is probably the most rigorous modelling approach that we have come across.

MR. FAYE:  And on the second page, bullet 2, it says there that:
"THESL's evaluation of the proposed ICM projects applies industry-leading techniques that aim to economically justify projects..."

And in here, I am wondering, what are the industry-leading techniques that you are referring to here?

MR. FENRICK:  What we're referring to there is incorporating and, to the extent that they can, as rigorously as possible, incorporating both the probability of the assets failing and also the customer interruption costs when those fail.

As we talked about this morning, you know, Mr. Otal talked about incorporating those down to the meter level as much as the data will currently allow us.

So that is really what we're referring to as industry-leading techniques, is drilling down and looking at, from all of the stakeholder perspective, the customer perspective, as well as the utility perspective, and putting that into one FIM tool.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But would I be fair in concluding that this model really hasn't been tested very extensively anywhere else?

MR. FENRICK:  I would say that there is a pretty large literature, academic literature, on customer interruption costs going back to the 1980s.

So to the extent that -- you know, it has been recognized within the industry for decades that customers have real economic costs when outages occur.

As far as the construct of their model, this is ground breaking, so it is kind of a new, innovative approach, but one that we feel is right on track.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thanks.  Those are all of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

Mr. Rubenstein.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just have one or two questions that wasn't addressed by Mr. Faye.  This is with respect to the PSE review.

I just want to make clear exactly what you were asked to provide.  Would I be correct that you were not asked to provide a review of the ten business cases for the purposes of determining, in your view, if they were non-discretionary?

MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Mr. Brett, I believe you are...

MR. BRETT:  I don't have any questions of this panel at this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Anyone else?  Ms. Girvan?
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  I would just like to ask both of the consulting firms a quick question.  I am just trying to understand exactly what you are concluding with respect to Hydro One -- with respect to Toronto Hydro.  Today is Monday.  It's Toronto Hydro.

[Laughter]


MS. GIRVAN:  Toronto Hydro's proposed spending for 2013.

I guess way sort of looking the same thing, along the lines of Mr. Rubenstein, just about -- you didn't look at whether they were non-discretionary.  You didn't look at the extent to which they could potentially be deferred.

I would just like sort of a broad statement from each of you about what you have actually concluded with respect to the proposed spending for 2013.

MR. SCHLATZ:  A quick summary on my part, it seems clear, from the nature of the projects and the potential impacts, if they are not constructed, that safety, reliability and system performance, quality will degrade.

MS. GIRVAN:  But did you look at when they were to be constructed, specifically, each of the projects?

MR. SCHLATZ:  We didn't look at the exact timing, recognizing that the timing of any project could be advanced or it may be delayed.  But, generally, each of the projects are justified because of the potential degradation.  But we didn't opine as to whether one year or the next year would be preferred or could be deferred but, rather, overall need.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And the gentleman from PSE?

MR. FENRICK:  As I mentioned, part of our analysis really was to evaluate the method and strategy that THESL was using and whether it made sense, whether we as a firm, and having a number of years of experience in working with utilities and regulators and in conversations at conferences and those types of things, if we really thought they were on the right track, if this approach provided all of the perspectives from all of the stakeholders and it was really trying to work in the public interest.

We really felt that this approach is on that track.  It is something that we would endorse and something that we would tell our other clients to pursue in order to prioritize and determine the economic value of projects.

As far as deferring, which your question also mentioned, you know, that is kind of within the FIM model whether to defer, you know, conduct the project now or wait to 2015.

And so they lay out those net present values.  So given their assumptions, by deferring, customers are exposed to a higher level of outage risk that exceeds the costs of the project.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  But, again, you didn't specifically look at the specific timing of the proposed projects?

MR. FENRICK:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan.  Board Staff have anything for this panel?

MR. MILLAR:  No, Mr. Chair.
Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Just one general area and I would just ask, to the extent you did cover anything within your reviews, the element of safety, either or both from a public perspective and an employee, worker safety perspective.

I wonder if any one of you could comment on your review and how they look at the replacement of assets in that context.

MR. SCHLATZ:  I would say they're both a safety -- crew and public safety issue, which is part of these projects, if you will.

The ground base equipment, primarily the handwells and the associated lower voltage cable that goes along with it, the replacement of those structures and those electrical facilities are consistent with other utilities, and with good reason, because of the exposure they have to the public and animals.

So it seems to us a very prudent path to follow.  So we certainly agree there.

There is other equipment which represents a crew safety hazard, a series of switches and some insulators that need to be replaced, and other utilities are doing the same.  So we view that as an equally prudent action to take.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. SONJU:  I will make the comment on the ten business cases that PSE reviewed.

The theme of the cases we reviewed are mainly on reliability.  There was a slight tone of safety which was considered, where appropriate.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

Mr. Cass, do you have anything further?

MR. CASS:  No re-examination, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  Well, this panel is excused.  Thank you very much for your prompt and forthright responses to the few questions that we did have.

Thank you very much.  I emphasize "prompt".

Mr. Cass, we could take care of some administrative details today.  If your next panel is available, there is no reason why we couldn't have them introduced, sworn in and do any lead that you have.  We're working towards the end of the week hoping that we're not sorry we didn't take advantage of these types of things when they presented themselves.  So if that is possible.

MR. CASS:  It is certainly possible, and I completely understand you are looking towards the end of the week.  I am just wondering if I could have five minutes with the panel --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we do that?

MR. CASS:  -- before we do that.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let us know when you are ready and we will be on standby.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

--- Recess taken at 4:10 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:20 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

In addition to Mr. Paradis, who has already been sworn, there are three witnesses on this panel to be sworn or affirmed.

Furthest from me is Chris Kerr, who is a supervisor of project planning with Toronto Hydro.

Also Mary Byrne, who is director of standards and policy planning.

And finally, Jack Simpson, director, generation and capacity planning.
THESL - PANEL 2B, CAPITAL PROJECTS


Guillaume (Guy) Paradis, Previously Sworn


Christopher Kerr, Sworn


Jack Simpson, Sworn


Mary Byrne, Sworn


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Cass:


MR. CASS:  Mr. Paradis, perhaps I will start with you.  As the experienced person on the panel, can you describe for the Board your area of evidence for the purposes of this panel, please?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes.  I'm here to present five of our ICM business cases, the first one being the paper insulated lead-covered cable and piece-out leaker segment, the second one being box construction, the third one being network vaults and roofs, the fourth one being fibre-top network units, and finally the fifth one being automatic transfer switches and reverse power breakers.

Those business cases can be found on tab 4, schedule B2, B5, B9, B10 and B11 respectively.

And I believe the Panel has been provided with a support document called:  "ICM Visual Support."

Each of these business cases is also enhanced or supported by some visual information, which can be found, for your reference, on page 9 and 10 for PILC, on page 17 to 23 for box construction, on page 34 to 36 for network vaults and roofs, on page 37 to 40 for fibre-top network units, and finally on page 41 to 42 for automatic transfer switch switches and reverse power breakers.

MR. CASS:  Can we perhaps give the booklet an exhibit number, Mr. Chair?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Thank you.

Mr. Millar, where are we up to?

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K1.4, Mr. Chair.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  THESL ICM BUSINESS CASES AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  K1.4.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  Now, Mr. Paradis, your evidence in this proceeding in the areas that you you've described, is that accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. PARADIS:  I do.

MR. CASS:  All right.  Can you give the Board a brief summary of your evidence in those areas, please?

MR. PARADIS:  Sure.  So perhaps I will start with the fibre-top network units replacement.

Fibre-top network units are assets located primarily in our underground system in the downtown core and along the Yonge Street corridor.

They serve the portion of our system that's supplied through secondary network infrastructure.

They are, on average, 40 years old or more.  They are exposed to quite harsh environments, salt contamination, water, and in general, debris, being located mainly on the sidewalks.  The equipment poses a risk of catastrophic failure, as, by design, it presents features that, given the environment, are likely and conducive to catastrophic failures.

We're targeting the highest-risk assets over the course of the next three years, focussing, again, on the assets that are in the harshest environments.

We believe the risk for similar assets in other environments can be mitigated, and so we're proposing to eliminate the risk associated with the misapplication under the sidewalk over the course of the next three years.

As for network vaults and roofs, we're targeting for complete rebuild of the very poor assets in that category.  That represents less than two percent of our overall population of 1064 vaults.  We're targeting 17 for complete rebuilds, six for roof rebuilds, and three for abandonment.  A large, very large portion of our vault infrastructure is approaching end-of-life or exceeding end-of-life.  And in fact, 65 percent of the 1064 vaults is within 10 years of its expected life of 60 years or beyond that.

They present very challenging jobs to execute, once again being located primarily under sidewalks, in high-density urban environments or in the downtown core.

And so we're proposing, once again, to address the very poor assets in that category to mitigate the risk.

Moving on to PILC cables, piece-out and leakers, I spoke to that a bit earlier today.  We're targeting a set of cables that connects two of our stations due to failures and a near-miss incident.

So they present safety risks to our workers due to excessive deterioration and age, so we're proposing to address those cables as part of the ICM submission.

In addition, we are targeting to address leaking cables or cable chambers requiring piecing out for nine of our stations, primarily in the downtown core once again, which is where a lot of our lead cable population is located.

So moving on to the next one for ATS and RPBs -- so that is automatic transfer switches and reverse power breakers -- we're proposing to address 10 automatic transfer switches and two reverse power breakers, being in the worst condition for that asset base.

Those assets are obsolete and unreparable, essentially, due to the unavailability of spare parts.  They're located, once again, in densely populated areas and represent safety risks.

We have seen significant degradation of the asset class for automatic transfer switches over the last few years.  When they do fail, it exposes us to long outage durations, and there is also no reliable way of predicting the next failure as the -- there isn't a test we can undertake that would give us indications of whether or not a failure is imminent.

So essentially we find out that they're defective once an operation is required under contingency, and at that moment they fail and lead us to long-duration outages.

Finally, for box construction, we're aiming at removing 16 box construction feeders by replacing them with 13,8 kV construction, to alleviate safety concerns and deteriorating reliability.

The box construction presents a safety risk to our workers due to some challenges associated with clearances.  The construction also includes a variety of obsolete assets, and the typical outage duration for that type of construction is, on average, twice as long as what you would find on a 13,8 construction.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Paradis.

Mr. Kerr, what is your area of evidence, please?

MR. KERR:  The evidence I'll be speaking to today is about the jobs contained within four specific segments of the ICM application.

So these are Toronto Hydro's, part of Toronto Hydro's must-do work, specifically in these critical areas.

For convenience, I would also like to highlight which pages of the ICM visual support image book are applicable to the segments which I will be speaking to.  The four segments are:  Tab 4, schedule B1, underground infrastructure segment.  The ICM visual support for these is found on pages 6 to 8.

Tab 4, schedule B4, overhead infrastructure segment, the ICM visual support is page 16.  Tab 4, schedule B6, rear lot construction segment, the ICM visual support is pages 24 to 29, and tab 4, schedule 19 -- sorry, tab 4, schedule B19, feeder automation.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Kerr.  Is your evidence in this proceeding in those areas accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. KERR:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. KERR:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Can you give the Board an overview of the key points of your evidence in those areas?

MR. KERR:  So I will start with tab 4, schedule B1, the underground infrastructure segment.

In this segment, THESL is asking for funding to cover the replacement of, number 1, direct buried cross-linked polyethylene, or XLPE, cable, which has inherent manufacturing defects and significantly negatively affects system reliability; secondly, the replacement of air-insulated pad-mounted switches, or PMHs, which may pose a safety risk to THESL crews due to manufacturing defects and are also failing at an increasing rate well before their expected useful life, thus affecting reliability; non-switchable submersible transformers, which may be at or beyond their useful life, with which the lack of replacement now would result in a material increase in cost, if undertaken at a later time.

The second segment, schedule B4, overhead infrastructure, in this segment THESL is asking for funding to cover the replacement of specific overhead assets which pose safety risks to the public and THESL employees, while also impacting system reliability.

These assets are:  Wood poles which have significantly deteriorated structural integrity, thus posing a risk to both safety and reliability; completely self-protected or CSP transformers, which are the least reliable type of overhead transformer in THESL's system and pose both safety and reliability risks; porcelain disconnect switches, which are safety and reliability risks due to their age, known failure modes and the modification of some switches, which limits the travel, thus inhibiting the arc-quenching ability of the switch itself; porcelain insulators and pothead terminations, which are safety risks due to their catastrophic failure modes and reliability risks; lastly, under-sized and bare overhead conductors, which significantly impact system reliability.

The third segment, schedule B6, rear lot construction, THESL is asking for funding to cover the installation of front lot underground distribution to replace the current overhead distribution located at the rear lot of homes.

The existing rear lot overhead distribution often is a safety risk to both the public, in that the public is in closer proximity to high voltage equipment, and THESL employees, who are often required to respond to power outages which can last up to 24 hours or more in duration.

The original rear lot overhead distribution assets, such as poles, transformers, insulators, conductors and switches, were installed in the 1950s and '60s and have reached or, in some cases, are beyond their end of useful life.

Power outages in these areas are expected to increase in frequency as these assets further age.  Power outages in these areas are expected to also increase in duration due to the inability of THESL to replace the assets with more commonly-used methods, such as using bucket trucks or a truck for pole installation.

The reactive replacement of rear lot assets is far more costly than front lot and subjects THESL employees to significant safety risks associated with manually carrying heavy equipment across uneven, slippery ground, often in poor visibility conditions.

And the fourth ICM case, schedule B19, feeder automation, THESL is asking for funding to cover the installation of remote operation SCADA switches, communication antenna and software, which is all installed on the trunk portion of selected feeders.

This feeder automation will enable feeders to automatically sense where a fault was and sectionalize the faulted region of the feeder without human intervention.

This automation scheme offers the ability to mitigate reliability impacts of large events, including circuit breaker lockouts which may occur during larger system events, such as storms or station contingency situations.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Kerr.  Ms. Byrne, what is your area of evidence, please?

MS. BYRNE:  My evidence is focussed on four of the incremental capital projects.  I can give you a brief summary of these by title.  The full evidence is found at tab 4, schedule B of our application.

The four business cases:  The first, B3, handwell replacements; the next, B7, polymer SMD 20 switches.

Then there is B8, the SCADA-Mate R1 switches, and, finally, B21, externally initiated relocations and expansions.

MR. CASS:  Is your evidence in this proceeding in those areas that you described accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Can you give the Board a brief overview of your areas of evidence, please?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  Starting with the first, B3, handwell replacements, THESL is asking for incremental capital to replace the handwells primarily for reasons of public safety.

The handwell is the underground connection point of the streetlight wiring to the electrical distribution system.  The job costs are in the range of about $15 million a year.  We have already replaced about half of the handwells.

There are about three years' worth of work left to replace the remaining handwells, and that is at a rate of about 2,500 handwells each year.

The replacement of the handwell does improve public safety, because it replaces the aging and damaged connectors and the wiring, and we replace those with new connectors that are waterproof.  The cable we install is better suited to the application, and since the handwell itself is non-conductive, we are reducing the risk of any electricity being transmitted to pedestrians.

The next area of my evidence is tab 7, which is the polymer SMD 20 switches.  THESL is asking for incremental capital to replace this particular switch, called the SMD 20, for reasons including worker safety, as well as public safety.

This type of switch is a fused cut-out type switch.  It does have a known catastrophic failure mode.  For this business case, the job costs are in the range of about $1.5 million for 2013.

There are about 5,200 defective switches.  The reason that replacement is necessary -- there's two reasons, one, because the switch itself will fail catastrophically when it is operated, so that is a concern both for worker safety, as well as public safety, but also because of the extra time and costs that it will take to replace that switch, in addition to the reason that the switch had to be operated in the first place, whether that was planned work or emergency response.

The next area of my evidence is B8, the SCADA-Mate R1 switches.  THESL is asking for incremental capital to replace this particular switch, called the SCADA-Mate R1, primarily for reasons of worker safety.  This type of switch is a remotely operated switch that we have experienced failures with.

The job costs for this SCADA-Mate R1 replacement are in the range of about $1.5 million for 2013.  There are about 320 defective switches.

Replacement of this switch is necessary because the switch can operate unexpectedly, and it will indicate the incorrect position, whether open or closed.  This is a concern for worker safety, since the switch cannot be reliably operated.

The last area of my evidence is B21, the externally initiated relocations and expansions.  THESL is asking for incremental capital to cover the THESL portion of relocation and expansion projects that are caused by other agencies, such as Waterfront Toronto and Metrolinx.

There is a tremendous volume of infrastructure work underway in the city, and there are several of these types of projects either already under way or planned for 2013.

The rebuilding of the THESL assets affected by these other agency projects, it is necessary because of this other construction work.  And we have various legal compliance or land agreements that exist with these agencies.

MR. CASS:  Ms. Byrne, perhaps by reference to the table of contents, could you relate the areas that you have talked about to Exhibit K1.4, please?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  Sorry, Mr. Cass, if you could repeat your question?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  The areas of evidence that you just talked about, can you relate those to the contents of Exhibit K1.4?  Perhaps you could just use the table of contents to do that.

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  Yes.  So handwell replacement is on page 11, SMD 20 switches on page 30, SCADA-Mate on 31.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.


Finally, Mr. Simpson, can you please describe your areas of evidence?


MR. SIMPSON:  My evidence will concern the station-related ICMs.  These are eight ICMs that were submitted.


And I encourage you to look at the manager's summary and direct you to the detailed evidence in tab 4, B12, which refers to station power transformers, B13.1, which refers to municipal station switch gear, B13.2, which refers to transformer station switch gear, B14, which refers to circuit breakers, B15, which details the control and communications, B16, which details the downtown stations' load transfer, and B18, which concerns the Hydro One capital contributions, and finally B20, which concerns the metering section.


MR. CASS:  Is the evidence given in this proceeding in these areas accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, it is.


MR. CASS:  Do you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MR. CASS:  Can you give the Board an overview of your area of evidence, please?

MR. SIMPSON:  At a high level, we can describe the B12 station power transformers as following.


This is a replacement of 10 power transformers.  These are key assets for our municipal stations, which transform incoming voltage from 27.6 kV or 13.8 kV, down to 4.2 kV.


The need is driven by age, poor asset condition, oil leakage, safety concerns or collateral damage risk.


The program budget for this item is approximately $3.9 million, and if you could look in the visual support pages 44 to 53, you will see representative pictures.

The next block of work is B13.1, the municipal switchgear.  This is a replacement of 10 switchgear line-ups at a number of our municipal stations.


The need in this case is driven by the asset condition, the obsolescence of the equipment, safety concerns or collateral damage risk.


These switchgear will be replaced with modern arc-resistant switch gear, and the program budget is approximately $11.4 million.

Please look on page 20 -- pardon me -- 54 in the visual support for images of this equipment.

Under B13.2, we are putting forward the transformer station switchgear.  This is a replacement of four switchgear line-ups at four of our large transformer stations.


The need, again, is driven by asset condition, obsolescence or safety concerns.

This equipment will be replaced with modern arc-resistant switchgear.


These jobs require extensive coordination with Hydro One.  The program budget for this work is approximately $12.1 million.


And there are some images on page 54 in the visual support to give you a sense of the work.


MS. GIRVAN:  Excuse me, could I interrupt for a second?


When you're talking about the program budget, can you just explain over what period of time?


MR. SIMPSON:  That's the 2012 and '13 package.


MS. GIRVAN:  So it is '12 and '13 only?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIMPSON:  B14 concerns the circuit breakers.  This work is a replacement of nine KSO oil circuit breakers at four of our horseshoe stations, and they will be replaced with modern vacuum breakers.


The need is driven by asset condition, obsolescence, the high impact of failure, the collateral damage risk, or the high sustainment cost.


As an example of this high impact failure, in 2010 the Manby KSO circuit breaker blew, and many of you will remember that long outage.  This can be mitigated with these improvements.


The program budget for this B14 is approximately $1.3 million.


And on page 55 of your visual support, you will see an example.

B15 concerns the control and communication.  This is the communication backbone for our system.  There are three projects to improve the redundancy of our SonNet communication system, and there is a replacement of 20 of our MOSCAD remote terminal unit or RTU radios across some of our municipal stations.  This communication is vital, because it is vital for the operation of the system breakers and switchgear by remote control, which improves the outage restoration times.


It is also driven by reliability needs, obsolescence and modernization.


Program budget is approximately $1.1 million.

And the section B16 concerns downtown stations' load transfer.  There are three projects to improve the redundancy by installing feeder ties between specific downtown stations.  These are Dufferin to Bridgman ties, Basin to George ties, and Basin to Carlaw ties.


Our legacy downtown system is a radial design and it lacks this inter-tie capacity.

High-impact failures such as the 2009 Dufferin TS flood can be mitigated with this station-to-station tie backup.


This need is driven by reliability.


And the program budget is approximately 2.8 million.


There is a reference in your visual support, page 56.

B18 concerns the Hydro One capital contributions.  This covers payments to Hydro One for work associated with THESL system capacity, sustainment or reliability needs.

The work includes engineering studies, equipment upgrade and replacements, such as circuit breakers and transformers, that are associated with the transmission system serving Toronto Hydro.


This work includes support for midtown and Bremner projects.


And the need is driven by capacity needs in this densely loaded downtown area.


Program budget is approximately $72.9 million.

And finally, the section B20 concerns metering.  THESL is required to upgrade our wholesale revenue metering per IESO market rules and Measurement Canada.  THESL is also required to maintain and reseal customer revenue metering at specified intervals according to Measurement Canada.


Toronto Hydro has an ongoing program commitment with IESO to replace equipment at their appropriate intervals over the next 10-year period.


So this metering work is driven largely by regulatory compliance.


It has a program budget of approximately 13.2 million.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Simpson.


Thank you, Mr. Chair.  That is the examination-in-chief of the panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Cass.  I think it was a very worthwhile exercise of getting that in, the introduction.


Thank you very much, panel, and we will see you at 9:30 tomorrow morning.


I don't know if there is an order that has been struck.  Mr. Rubenstein, will you be -- Mr. Faye?   Mr. Faye will be taking first?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Mr. Faye.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Faye?  Okay.


All right, Mr. Faye.  So we will look forward to your -- seeing you all in the morning at 9:30.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I did want to just --


Oh, sorry.  Mr. Rubenstein?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I apologize.  I just want to raise something.  I had asked before this morning's break during my questioning, I had asked for an undertaking from Toronto Hydro with respect to providing a breakdown by segment and by project of the in-service additions for each of 2012 and 2013.  Mr. Cass said that he would look into the possibility of that, and I am wondering if he has done this.


MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  With all of the things that have been happening, the day has been moving very quickly, Mr. Chair.  I have been remiss and I have not come to that, but I will, as soon as I get an opportunity when we leave the room today.  My apologies.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Cass, Mr. Rubenstein.


Okay.  With that, we are adjourned and we will reconvene at 9:30 tomorrow morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:50 p.m.
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